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As the largest industrial manufacturer in the District of
Columbia, the U.S. Government Printing Office (GPO)
tries to be as environmentally sensitive as possible.

O

ur position in the world has been attained by the extent

This includes trying to be green in virtually e v e r y s t e p o f
our printing processes. GPO has a long histo r y o f r e c y c l i n g .
For nearly 150 years, GPO has been recyclin g w a s t e p a p e r,

and thoroughness of the control we have achieved over

copper, brass, and scrap metal. Since 1954, G P O h a s b e e n

nature; but we are more, not less, dependent upon what

recycling corrugated boxes. Other materials we recycle include

she furnishes than at any previous time of history.

aluminum, silver, photographic film, phototypesetting paper,
empty paint cans, 55-gallon metal drums, plastic drums, CDs,

President Theodore Roosevelt made this observation 100 years ago during a speech to a national
conference on conservation held at the White House. It is just as accurate today as it was in 1908

floppy disks, and video cassettes.

and remains a timeless call to sustainable environmental stewardship.

In this Annual Report, we will show you how GPO is taking heed of
the words spoken by President Theodore Roosevelt a century ago.
It is our obligation to be a good steward of the resources under
GPO’s control. Sustainable Environmental Stewardship is
good business and good Government.
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M e s s ag e F r o m T he Public Printer

for the Joint Congressional Committee
on Inaugural Ceremonies, including
invitations, maps, signs, programs,
tickets, and other products. GPO also
began producing the new edition of
the U.S. Code and delivered a number
of other noteworthy Congressional
products, including Black Americans
in Congress, 1807–2007. For Federal
agencies, GPO procured work to
support the upcoming 2010 Census,
and with the Office of Management and
Budget, GPO coordinated the electronic
delivery to Congress of the official
version of the Budget of the United
States Government for FY 2009. This is
the first time in history that the official
version of this critically important
Government document was delivered
electronically, and GPO authenticated it
by digital signature.
GPO’s digitization efforts
proceeded apace as we readied our
Federal Digital System (FDsys) for its
first public release in early 2009. This
system, with a state-of-the-art search
and retrieval system, will eventually
replace and improve on the services
of GPO Access, which has provided
the public with online access to
Government information since 1994.
FDsys will also serve as GPO’s digital
platform, with a planned capability
to provide for the intake, storage,
processing, and output of Government
publication content in a variety of
forms and formats. During the year,
GPO also expanded its authentication
capabilities. In addition to the Budget,
GPO completed work on authenticating
selected congressional bills for the
110th Congress and will implement
this capability for all bills in the 111th
Congress.
Over the past several years,
GPO has implemented a variety of

It has been a privilege to have
completed my first year as the Nation’s
25th Public Printer. Working with
the talented men and women of GPO
in Keeping America Informed on the
documents of our democracy has been
an honor. Together, we have all made
some remarkable accomplishments
this past year, and I am looking
forward to more great achievements
in the coming year.
Building on our continuing
transformation efforts, GPO recorded
another year of strong performance
in FY 2008. Revenue increased by
$103.3M over the previous year,
resulting in net income of $46.3M,
compared with net income of $90.9M
for FY 2007. This addition to retained
earnings will help GPO meet its
requirements for necessary investments
in technology and equipment in the
coming year.
GPO’s financial performance was
attributable primarily to the production
of e-Passports. The State Department’s
requirement for these documents grew
significantly during the year, rising by
nearly a third—from an estimated 18
million to approximately 24 million—by
year’s end. In addition to financing the
cost of this work, the reimbursements
for passport production financed
the completion of a second, remote
production facility in Stennis, MS, for
continuity-of-operations purposes. GPO
brought this facility online on time
and under budget by April 2008. Due
to the volume of e-Passport demand,
GPO was also able to refund to the
State Department a portion of the
reimbursements that were excess to our
requirements.
GPO’s support for Congress during
FY 2008 was highlighted, among other
things, by work on products required
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green initiatives in its operations.
These initiatives have become part
of the products and services that
GPO routinely provides for Congress,
Federal agencies, and the public. For
more than a decade, for example,
printing papers used by GPO have met
the requirements for recycled content
contained in the Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act of 1989, as amended,
and in corresponding Executive
Orders. The printing inks used by
GPO and its contractors comply with
the requirements of the Vegetable Ink
Printing Act of 1994. GPO works with
the Environmental Protection Agency
and the District of Columbia to meet
the standards for emissions of volatile
organic compounds established by the
Clean Air Act.
However, there is more that GPO
can do in this field, and during FY 2008
sustainable environmental stewardship
was the focus of a concentrated effort
at GPO. In my view, the future of
sustainable environmental stewardship
means being proactive and making
changes so that GPO becomes a more
efficient operation that makes better
use of the resources under our control.
This is not a partisan issue. It’s good
business, and it’s good Government.
During FY 2008, we articulated a
vision for the entire lifecycle of what
GPO produces, from how we source
the raw materials and how we produce
our products, to what happens to the
products when consumers are done
with them. For GPO, this means:
n

moving from web offset presses to
digital equipment to reduce paper
consumption;

n

accelerating the re-engineering of
business processes in production,
procurement, documents
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dissemination, and administration
to take advantage of the efficiencies
offered by digital technology, reduce
paperwork, and improve efficiency;
n

conducting energy audits throughout
our facilities with the objective of
reducing our energy demand while
increasing our functionality and
efficiency;

n

using paper in our plant and for
our Congressional and agency
customers, that goes beyond meeting
the minimum requirements for
recycled content but still meets the
challenge of cost and performance;

n

reducing hazardous waste through
solvent recovery systems, and
reducing the total amount of waste
generated by our operations; and

n

installing a “green” roof on our
building, in targeted areas, that
features an energy efficient,
bio-based roofing system, which
should double the life expectancy
of the roof and reduce heating
demands in the building.

The call to sustainable
environmental stewardship will not
go unheeded at GPO. Together, the
men and women of GPO, who work
tirelessly in support of the information
production and service requirements
of Congress, Federal agencies, and
the public, will move forward with
President Roosevelt’s timeless vision
of sustainability.

Good Business. Good Government.

Robert C. Tapella
Public Printer of the United States
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T h e h e ad q u ar t e r s f o r t h e U n it e d S t at e s G o v e r n m e n t P r in t in g O ff ic e ( G P O ) is loca ted severa l block s
f r o m t h e U n it e d S t at e s Cap it o l in Was h in g t o n , D . C.



GPO HEADQUARTERS

GPO has been Keeping America Informed by producing
and distributing the documents of our democracy from
this location since the presidency of Abraham Lincoln.
The facility is composed of four buildings totaling 1.5
million square feet. GPO’s newest building was completed
in 1940. Our plant is located on multiple floors, requiring
numerous elevators for the transportation of our product.
The buildings are too large and antiquated to meet the
printing and digital needs of the 21st century.
GPO has proposed moving into a modern factory
that has the plant on the ground level, increasing
efficiency and saving the American taxpayer money. GPO
would like to become the first LEED Platinum printing
plant in America. LEED is a voluntary green building
rating system that provides measurable benchmarks for
developing high-performance, sustainable buildings.
Platinum is the highest standard.
GPO would like to construct this new facility at its
current location and turn the current buildings over to a
commercial developer. In the meantime, GPO is taking
steps to increase the efficiencies of the current facility.
Currently, we are piloting a new bio-based green roofing
system in a small portion of our facility that will double
the typical life expectancy of a new roof. If this pilot is
successful, we hope to be able to replace our entire roof
with this application.
The agency has conducted multiple energy audits to
help identify areas where we can increase our buildings,
efficiency by looking at programs and processes that have
short returns on investment. Some of these include:
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Replacing over 25,000 light bulbs with lower
wattage bulbs when they require replacement



Installing a steam meter to further monitor
steam consumption that will help identify faulty
equipment and ensure its replacement/repair



Evaluating the efficiency of the air handling
units that supply air and humidification
throughout the facility

GPO Sustainable Environmental Stewardship

Performing a compressed air audit of our
facility’s air system to increase efficiency and
reduce energy loss

GPO has enlisted its 2,300 employees to help the agency
be more sustainable. Management has instituted an incentive program called Goal Sharing. This year-round program is designed to give all employees a monetary award
for making a positive difference that helps GPO reduce
costs through several objectives:







Reduce Electric and Steam Usage
Reduce Absence Without Leave (AWOL)
Reduce Workers’ Compensation Costs
Reduce Sick Injury-Administrative Costs
Reduce the Number of Workforce Injuries

At the end of the year, if GPO meets specific goals in certain
incentive areas, the employees receive a cash or time off
award. This program gives all employees the opportunity to
participate in sustainable environmental stewardship.

P l a n t operat i o n s

GPO prints what are essentially two daily newspapers—
the Congressional Record and Federal Register. These
newspapers are produced on 40% post consumer waste
recycled newsprint. They are printed on offset web
presses just like those used in the newspaper industry.
These presses use a significant amount of paper in make
ready. As the quantities printed continue to decline,
GPO would like to move from web offset to digital equipment for these publications to significantly reduce paper
consumption.

Good Business. Good Government.
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Wh ile t h e r e ar e a n u m b e r o f p ap e r c e r t if ic at io n p r o g r am s , o n ly 1 0 % o f a ll the world’s forests
ar e c e r t if ie d t o an y s ys t e m .

GPO’s plant prints the equivalent of nearly three
billion standard 8.5" x 11" pages per year. In 2008, more
than 5.6 million pounds of waste paper has been recycled
resulting in:






34,020 trees saved
28.9 million gallons of water flow conserved
3 million pounds of landfill waste diverted
5.9 million pounds of greenhouse gas
emissions eliminated

Those are significant savings, but GPO is moving toward
using more environmentally responsible paper in the
plant, and GPO is taking the lead on that front. GPO is
one of the largest providers of copier paper to Federal
agencies. Our Federal customers have asked for more
sustainable paper choices.
GPO has opened a dialogue with the paper industry
during the past year. This dialogue has been very helpful
as we navigate and determine the parameters for gauging
paper sustainability. Last May, GPO hosted a Paper Industry Day to listen and learn about paper sustainability from
dozens of paper industry leaders from around the world.
Important environmental issues come to mind in
the manufacturing of paper. Millions of trees are cut down
each year to make paper. Energy is used, water is used,
and carbon dioxide goes into the air. There are now ways
to make significant, environmentally positive improvements on all of these fronts. With important advances in
technology, and now with attractive, high quality paper
available, GPO sees the industry becoming a beacon for
sustainability. GPO would like to dramatically increase the
use of 100% post consumer waste recycled paper at the
agency, provided the industry can meet the challenge of
cost and performance.
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GPO began testing papers and running them in
our Digital Print Center. Additionally, GPO’s plant ran
a 40lb white offset 100% post consumer waste recycled
paper through the web presses. There was no difference
in printability or run-ability as compared to the 40% post
consumer waste recycled paper the agency has been using
for years. GPO is adding more 100% post consumer waste
recycled papers to our qualified products list.
Beyond 100% recycled paper, we need to look at
the fiber used in other papers. Have the fibers come from
responsibly managed forests? While there are a number of
paper certification programs, only 10% of all the world’s
forests are certified to any system. GPO’s customers are
asking us whether they can get paper certified by one
of the programs. And so, GPO is making changes to our
print procurement regulations that would allow our customers to specify certified papers.
This past year marked a turning point in GPO’s
distribution of the Federal Budget: on February 4, 2008,
the President of the United States submitted the first ever
electronic budget (e-budget) to Congress. GPO authenticated by digital signature the Budget of the U.S. Government for fiscal year 2009. GPO’s digital signature assures
the public the document has not been changed or altered.
Digital signatures on PDF documents serve the same
purpose as handwritten signatures or wax seals on printed
documents. The Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
estimates that by not printing any copies for its own use,
it saved more than 20 tons of paper and roughly 480 trees
by going paperless. OMB also estimates the Government
will save more than $1 million over five years if it continues this practice.
GPO has made tremendous progress in reducing hazardous materials use and waste generation in GPO’s plant.
The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has lowered
GPO’s status from a Large Quantity to a Small Quantity
Hazardous Waste Generator in recognition of its successful
efforts to reduce such wastes. As part of this ongoing effort,
a solvent recovery system to improve operations sustain-

Good Business. Good Government.
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T h e S e c u r e P r o d u c t io n F ac ilit y ( S P F ) c o n t ain s e n e r g y e ff ic ie n t lig h t s, gla ss, cooling a nd hea ting
s ys t e m s , an d a s o lv e n t r e c o v e r y s ys t e m w it h a w at e r e v ap o r at o r.

ability and generate significant cost savings has been installed. The system recovers solvent from color presses used
in the plant through a distillation system. Up to 90% of the
solvent is purified and recovered for reuse and the resulting
distilled water is reused in the process. A minute amount
of sludge material—a small fraction of the volume of the
former waste stream—is then disposed as a non-hazardous
waste. This system has the following benefits:




Reduction of up to 90% of GPO’s solvent waste



Reduction of virgin production and solvent wastes
used will save more than $20,000 per year

Reduction of solvent waste will eliminate about
5,000 gallons of the product from leaving GPO
per year

As part of its ongoing efforts to reduce actual and
potential environmental impacts from its operations,
GPO evaluated its underground storage tank systems. It
determined that a 1,500-gallon underground storage tank
system, although still in use and only halfway through its
design life, was functionally obsolete. It was decided that
the potential environmental risk posed to the groundwater
and to the public by the tank outweighed its usefulness
and it was successfully removed, resulting in a “clean
closure” and the elimination of the risks. A 6,000-gallon
gasoline underground storage tank system is now
undergoing a similar evaluation.

S ecurI T Y & I n te l l i ge n t D ocu m e n ts ( S I D )

GPO plays a critical role in our Nation’s security by
producing security and intelligent documents for Federal
agencies, most prominently the e-Passport for the State
Department. GPO produced 24 million blank passports
in FY 2008, an increase of 10 million over the previous
year. Producing the passport requires over 100 employees,
multiple print engines, and bindery machinery. GPO has
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increased the routine maintenance program to ensure
maximum production capacity, which ultimately reduced
manufacturing waste and increased efficiencies.
In addition to the plant in the Nation’s capital,
GPO has invested in a Secure Production Facility (SPF)
at the Stennis Space Center in Mississippi. NASA and
about 30 other Federal agencies are located there. The
facility opened on time and under budget in April 2008.
GPO employees are producing blank passport books at
this location. More than 875,000 blank passports were
produced at the SPF in FY 2008. This operation will
ensure we continue to meet passport demand by the
American people and the Department of State’s request
for a secure Continuity of Operations site outside of
Washington, D.C. The SPF has created more than 50
Government jobs, which has contributed to the growth
and development of the Gulf Coast economy.
This state-of-the-art facility is a prime example of
sustainable environmental stewardship through energy
efficiency and resource management. The SPF has made
great strides in reducing its waste production by simply
installing newer equipment and implementing recovery
systems that protect the environment and provide a short
return on investment. During the building of the SPF,
GPO selected energy efficient lights, glass, cooling and
heating systems, and a solvent recovery system with a
water evaporator.
GPO has launched two initiatives to enhance the
already high standards in place in all of its facilities. First,
GPO is adopting ISO 9001. ISO (the International Organization for Standardization) sets industrial standards recognized around the globe. Once in place, ISO 9001 will
standardize all GPO business and production processes.
Second, GPO has adopted 5S, a workplace organization
way of life. The name is derived from the steps of the
process: Sort, Set-in-order, Shine, Standardize, and Sustain.
5S will enhance employee safety and efficiency.

Good Business. Good Government.
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U s e r s f o u n d t h e e le c t r o n ic v e r s io n f ar s u p e r io r t o t h e p ap e r v e r s io n b eca use the index ing is better
an d allo w s f o r m o r e e ff e c t iv e c o m p ar is o n o f s t at is t ic s in d iff e r e n t is s u es.

FY 2008 marked the opening of the GPO Secure
Credential Center, where secure Federal credential cards
are personalized and prepared for delivery. GPO used
these capabilities to supply more than 400,000 personalized Trusted Traveler cards to the Department of Homeland Security, Customs and Border Protection. The cards
facilitate expedited crossing for pre-approved travelers at
U.S. borders with Canada and Mexico. In the last quarter of
FY 2008, the Secure Credential Center prepared to produce
over 10,000 Presidential Inaugural Credentials. These will
assist U.S. Capitol Police in coordinating security. GPO is
now well positioned to service numerous Federal secure
card programs in FY 2009 and beyond.

superior to the paper version because the indexing is better
and allows for more efficient comparison of statistics in
different issues.
GPO continues to work with the library community
in making many resources and printed products go
electronic, thus saving on paper and reducing waste:



The Federal Depository Library Directory
provides important contact information for every
depository library. The information was previously
printed every other year and distributed in paper.
That information is now available online,
http://catalog.gpo.gov/fdlpdir/public.jsp



The Federal Depository Library Handbook
outlines requirements for library operations.
This publication had about 400 printed pages
that were distributed to 1,250 depository
libraries. The publication now is only available
electronically and found on the FDLP Desktop
website: http://www.fdlp.gov/



The Monthly Catalog of U.S. Government
Publications and the Congressional Serial Set
Catalog are available online. GPO worked with
the Joint Committee on Printing to develop this
new online resource, http://catalog.gpo.gov



The newsletter of the FDLP, Administrative
Notes , is a bi-monthly publication and published
only in electronic form.



GPO Annual Reports are no longer sent to
depositories in paper form, as they are available
electronically



A Customer Relationship Management (CRM)
system and has been created for answering
customer inquiries, and has significantly reduced
paper waste. The CRM provides an electronic
record of customer transactions, which
previously were recorded via paper logs,
http://www.gpoaccess.gov/help

L i brary S er v i ces &
C o n te n t Ma n age m e n t

Through the Federal Depository Library Program (FDLP),
GPO’s Library Services and Content Management group
works with the library community to provide free, open,
and permanent public access to the documents of our
democracy.
The FDLP, pursuant to direction from Congress, has
transformed into a primarily electronic program and many
publications are now produced only in electronic form.
This practice increases the dissemination of information
to approximately 1,250 Federal depository libraries,
and people from all over the world can access these
publications at their fingertips day or night. More than
1,300 titles have been converted to electronic form only.
Previously, paper copies were distributed to a Federal
depository library and users would have to physically
go to the library to view the publication. One successful
example of this practice is The Monthly Labor Review. This
publication has been compiled by the Department of Labor
since 1915, and is used by the public for researching labor
statistics. Users have found the electronic version is far
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G P O c h o s e s e r v e r s t h a t u s e 5 0 - w a t t p r o c e s s o r s i n s t e a d o f t h e s t a n d a rd 80-watt processors, which
r e s u lt e d in e n e r g y s av in g s o f m o r e t h an $ 1 2 , 0 0 0 a ye ar.

As mentioned earlier in this report, the President
of the United States submitted the Budget of the U.S.
Government for FY 2009 to Congress electronically. This
is the first time in history that the official version of this
critically important Government document was delivered
electronically. GPO authenticated it by digital signature.
This authentication verifies to anyone who downloads
the Budget that the content is official and unaltered. The
electronic delivery of the Budget truly ushered in a new
era for GPO and the Federal Government.
Where once GPO and the library community solely
relied on ink and paper, we now also use electronic ions
and integrated circuits, but our job is still the same: to
record the words and actions of our Government and
make them available for our people.

G P O ’ S F edera l D i g i ta l S yste m ( F D s y s )

Digitization itself is a key sustainability initiative, and
is at the core of an ongoing transformation of GPO’s
operations and programs. GPO’s Federal Digital System
(FDsys) is an advanced digital system that will enable
the agency to manage Government information, from all
three branches of the Federal Government. The system
will replace GPO Access to meet the public demand for
immediate online access to information. FDsys will ensure
that information is readily and permanently available for
public access, as well as guarantee that the information
contained within the system has been created by an
official source and has remained unaltered. FDsys will
contain information gathered through three methods: files
submitted by Federal agencies and Congress, information
gathered from Federal agencies’ websites, and previously
printed products which are converted into digital files
through scanning. This information will not only include
text files, but also graphics, audio, and video files as well.
When complete, FDsys will give the public a one-stop site
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for authentic, published Government information. GPO
is planning to release FDsys in phases; each phase will
introduce new content and functions.
While developing FDsys, GPO has focused on
building an energy efficient, sustainable system. FDsys
requires 80 servers to operate. GPO sought out the most
energy efficient servers available. The agency chose servers that use 50-watt processors instead of the standard
80-watt processors. By using processors that require less
consumption, GPO will realize energy savings of more
than $12,000 a year.
GPO has made energy upgrades to servers in
place that service the agency in all capacities. GPO’s
Information Technology organization has completed a
server upgrade to provide faster and improved search
results for our Government publications on GPO Access.
This modification eliminated over 20 separate servers, and
resulted in about a 50% reduction in energy to support
this application. All components of the retired servers will
be recycled or used for parts within our current operation.
These sustainable efforts in the transformation of GPO
Access earned GPO international recognition as a finalist
in Computerworld magazine’s “Best Practice in Green IT”
Computing Awards in September.
Additionally, GPO plans to implement virtualization
technology for servers once this technology proves to be reliable for our applications. Virtualization offers us the ability
to share single physical servers to support multiple applications and operating systems. This will further reduce our
Information Technology energy consumption by over 60%.
GPO has also adopted a Citrix thin client solution
for several processes which has substantially reduced our
energy use. These initiatives replaced nearly 60 desktop
systems with Citrix, reducing our power consumption by
over 75%. GPO is also adopting Microsoft applications
that better reduce paper waste and individual desktop
energy consumption.

Good Business. Good Government.
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U . S . G o v e r n m e n t P r in t in g O ff ic e

The following summary tables are excerpts from the full audited consolidated financial statements and are not intended to
substitute for the full audited financial statements presented on the accompanying CD–ROM.
For fiscal year 2008 (October 1, 2007 through September 30, 2008), the GPO received a clean audit opinion on its
consolidated financial statements from KPMG LLP.
GPO earned a contribution to new investment of $46.3M in fiscal 2008 compared with $90.9M in fiscal 2007. Revenue
from operations increased 11.0% to $1.042B from $939.1M. The major factor driving the operating revenue increase was the
increased demand for electronic passports. Operating costs increased 17.4%, to $996.2M from $848.2M, due mainly to an
increase in electronic passport materials cost.
The GPO had a positive contribution of $46.3M in fiscal 2008, compared to a positive contribution of approximately
$90.9M in fiscal 2007. It is important to note that approximately $11.1M of the fiscal 2008 positive contribution, and $39.5M
of the fiscal 2007 positive contribution, is the result of the accounting for funds received to pay for capital projects. In
both years, this resulted in revenues without corresponding expenses in the profit and loss statements. The expenses
associated with these revenues will be reflected in future financial statements as these capital projects are completed and
put into use. The $11.1M was comprised of $4.3M for the development and fit-out of the new secure production facility,
and approximately $6.8M for the development of FDsys. An additional $14.1M of revenue was used for working capital to
purchase inventory for the production of electronic passports.
Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Net Income (in thousands)

2008

2007

Operating Revenues
$ 1,042,425
$
Operating Expenses		
996,164 		
Net Income

$

46,261

$

939,108
848,225

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Income

$

46,261

2007
$

90,883

Provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and other
$ 10,412
$
8,847
(Increase) decrease in current assets		 (21,077)		 (57,485)
Increase (decrease) in current liabilities		 11,931		 37,698
Workers’ compensation liability		
344		
(3,228)
Product warranty liability		
(3,415)		
4,833
Total adjustments
$ (1,805)
$ (9,335)
Net cash provided by operating activities
$ 44,456
$ 81,548
Cash flows from Investing Activities		 (47,151)		 (22,407)
Cash flows from Financing Activities		
(5,500)		 (15,500)
Net (decrease) Increase in Cash Balance
$ (8,195)
$ 43,641

The GPO’s Balance Sheet continued to strengthen as a result of its improved operating performance. Although working
capital decreased by $1.9 million, to $255.4M in 2008 from $257.3M in 2007, the total assets of GPO increased by $49.6M, to
$575.3M in 2008 from $525.7M in 2007. Cash decreased by $8.2M, or 3.0%.
GPO ended fiscal 2008 with positive retained earnings of $154.4M, compared to $108.2M at the end of fiscal 2007.
Summary Balance Sheets (in thousands)

4,318
$
14,100		
6,800		

27,800
20,919
11,700

Net Income after Planned Uses

21,043

30,464

$

2008

90,883

Planned Uses of Net Income
Secure Production Facility (SPF)
$
Passport Inventory Funding		
Federal Digital System (FDsys)		
$

Summary Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands)

2 008 Annua l Report

Cash provided by operations decreased by $37.0M from the prior year, primarily due to the decrease in net income.
In 2008, GPO generated $44.5M from operations compared to $81.5M in 2007. The GPO made investments for capital items
of $47.2M in fiscal 2008, compared to $22.4M expended in fiscal 2007.

2008

2007

Assets
Current Assets
Fund balance with Treasury
$ 265,251
$ 273,446
Accounts receivable, net		 153,696		 146,118
Inventory, net		 48,291		 34,592
Prepaid expenses		
903		
3,958
Total current assets
$ 468,141
$ 458,114
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net		 107,194		 67,600
Total Assets
$ 575,335
$ 525,714
Liabilities and Net Position
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable & accrued expenses
$ 112,858
$ 109,324
Deferred revenues		 89,376		 81,715
Accrued annual leave		 10,549 		
9,813
Total current liabilities
$ 212,783
$ 200,852
Other Liabilities
Workers’ compensation liability		 67,067		 66,723
Product warranty liability		
1,418		
4,833
Total Liabilities
$ 281,268
$ 272,408
Net position
Cumulative Results of Operations
Retained earnings
$ 154,425
$ 108,164
Invested capital		 92,879 		 92,879
Unexpended Appropriations		 46,763		 52,263
Total Net Position
$ 294,067
$ 253,306
Total Liabilities and Net Position
$ 575,335
$ 525,714
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GPO has been environmentally conscious for
nearly 150 years and is becoming a model for
showing how sustainable environmental
stewardship is good business and good
government. As the men and women of GPO

continue to carry out the historic mission of Keeping

America Informed , we are seeking new ways to be
better stewards of the resources under our control.
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Mission
The mission of the U.S. Government
Printing Office (GPO or Agency) is
Keeping America Informed, by providing
excellent publishing and dissemination services for official and authentic
Government publications to its customers:
the Congress, Federal agencies, Judiciary,
Federal Depository Libraries, and the
American public.
The GPO accomplishes this mission
by working in close partnership with all
three branches of the Federal Government
in the creation, collecting, cataloging and
indexing, reproduction, dissemination,
authentication, and preservation of Federal
Government information. GPO utilizes
conventional and digital technology, and
state-of-the-art methods, to produce and
distribute Federal Government information. To ensure that Federal Government
information is readily available to all citizens, GPO makes information accessible
in an array of communication mediums
from traditional printed products to digital
documents and on-line databases that are
accessible through the Internet.

Basis of Financial Reporting
The consolidated financial statements
of the GPO are prepared pursuant to
the requirements of United States Code
(U.S.C.) Title 31, Money and Finance, §
3515, Financial Statements of Agencies.
The consolidated financial statements have
been audited by an independent external
auditor selected by the Public Printer in
accordance with U.S.C. Title 44, Public
Printing and Documents, § 309, Revolving
Fund for Operation and Maintenance of
Government Printing Office.
The consolidated financial statements
of the GPO are prepared from GPO’s
financial system on the accrual basis
of accounting in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). Under the accrual basis, revenues
are recognized (recorded) when earned,
and expenses are recognized when a
liability is incurred, without regard to the
receipt or the payment of cash. GAAP also

requires that accounting principles used
be applied in a manner consistent with
that of the previous year.
GPO’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes provide
information on the Agency’s financial
position, results of operations, changes in
net position, and cash flows, and disclose
all significant events and economic affairs
controlled by GPO, in conformity with applicable laws, regulations, standards, and
policies relevant to financial reporting.
GPO is committed to maintaining
strong financial systems and internal
controls to ensure accountability, integrity,
and reliability. GPO’s internal controls are
designed to provide reasonable assurance that obligations and costs comply
with applicable laws and regulations and
are within budgetary limits; that funds,
property, and other assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition; and that transactions
are properly recorded.
GPO Instruction 825.18A, Internal
Control Program, established the internal control standards and assessment
methodology employed by GPO to
ensure adequate and effective systems
of management control, and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations.
Management monitors the internal control
systems and regularly conducts vulnerability assessments and internal control
reviews of GPO’s programs, operations,
and other activities.
The Office of the Inspector General
(OIG) monitors the Internal Control
Program at GPO and keeps the Public
Printer informed of management’s
progress in addressing internal control
deficiencies noted in the annual financial
statement audit. Additionally, the OIG and
the U.S. Government Accountability Office
(GAO) conduct audits of GPO’s programs
and operations, and as such, evaluate management controls. The Internal
Control Program, along with recommendations from these audits, have strengthened
management controls and improved the
economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of
GPO’s programs, operations, and other
activities.
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Programs and Operations
The Government-wide programs and
operations managed by GPO are based
on various public laws codified in Title
44. GPO’s statutory responsibilities include
fulfilling the printing needs of the Federal
Government and distributing Federal
Government information products to the
public.
Funding
The Agency’s programs and operations are
funded through a business-type revolving fund, authorized by Title 44, and by
annual and certain no-year and multi-year
appropriations provided by Congress. The
GPO Revolving Fund is authorized to be
self-sustaining, without fiscal year limitations that are applicable to most annual
appropriations. Accordingly, the Revolving
Fund pays for the cost of the Agency’s
programs and operations and is reimbursed
at rates and prices that are intended to
recover the full cost of goods and services
delivered to customers. GPO’s rates and
prices for products and services are
developed using estimates of direct labor
and direct material expenses, overhead
expenses, and anticipated volumes.
The major sources of reimbursement
to the GPO Revolving Fund are:
n Payments from Federal customers for
printing and binding, blank paper
and paper products, and information
products and design services;
n Sales of Government publications and
information products to the general
public, bookstores, book dealers, and
businesses; and,
n Fund transfers from the Congressional
Printing and Binding (CP&B)
Appropriation and the Salaries and
Expenses (S&E) Appropriation.
The CP&B and S&E appropriations
reimburse the GPO Revolving Fund for
costs incurred producing congressional
work and fulfilling statutory requirements
to disseminate Federal Government information to the public, respectively. Congress
has also occasionally made no-year and
multi-year appropriations available to the
Agency for special purposes. For example,
appropriations have been made for building improvements, security enhancements,

3

Section I: Management’s Discussion and Analysis

and workforce retraining. Reimbursements
to the Revolving Fund from the appropriations are recorded as revenue when related
liabilities are incurred. Generally, unexpended annual appropriations are returned
to the U.S. Department of the Treasury
after five years.
Programs and Operations Overview
The Agency is organized into separate
business units or segments, as described
below, to assist management of the various
programs and operations of the Agency.
Plant Operations The Plant Operations
unit publishes, conventionally and digitally, the important journals of the Federal
Government, along with many other
Federal Government documents that are
available to the public. The Plant provides
Congress with all legislative printing and
binding services, including overnight
production of the Congressional Record,
and Congressional bills, reports, and hearings. GPO also publishes the daily Federal
Register and produces the Code of Federal
Regulations for the Executive Branch.
Security and Intelligent Documents
This business unit works with other Federal
agencies to assist in the safe and secure
design, production, and distribution of
security and intelligent documents and
credentials. These security products incorporate electronic technologies and other
fraud and counterfeit protection security
features. This unit’s principal products are
electronic passport books (e-Passports)
for the U.S. Department of State. In 2008,
production of electronically enabled
smartcard secure credentials for the U.S.
Department of Homeland Security, Customs
and Border Patrol began. Also in 2008,
GPO opened a new Secure Production
Facility (SPF) to produce blank e-Passports.
Customer Services The majority of
the Government’s printing needs are satisfied through Customer Services’ partnership with industry that takes advantage of
the vast resources, expertise, and specialization in the private sector. This business
unit acquires services competitively from
the private sector through various types of
print procurement vehicles tailored to the
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specific needs of customers. Thousands
of pre-qualified businesses, small to large
in size, openly compete for printing jobs.
GPO’s performance measures, for on-time
delivery and quality acceptance, demonstrate the effectiveness of this partnership
between industry and government.
GPO assigns customer service teams
to provide print brokerage and related
services to Federal customers. The teams
work diligently to become authorities on
the mission of their respective agencies to
anticipate and exceed customer expectations. The teams are assisted by GPO’s
sales force of national account managers.
Both team members and national account
managers meet regularly with customer
agency program managers to ensure high
levels of satisfaction.
Customer Services also provides training opportunities for Federal customers
through the Institute for Federal Printing
& Electronic Publishing. This GPO unit
provides classroom instruction focusing
on using information technology to meet
program objectives, printing requirements,
and electronic dissemination initiatives.
Creative and Digital Media Services
GPO provides Congress and Federal customers with many products and services
to assist in the creation and dissemination
of information.
The Creative Services unit is comprised
of a team of professional designers that
provides branding and identity design,
Web graphics, and multimedia presentations. The team consults with customers
to develop appropriate solutions based on
audience, budget, and schedule requirements. Their work includes designing annual reports, magazines, brochures, books,
posters, and Web layout and pages. They
also create specialized security designs for
passports, credentials, and other secure
documents.
The Digital Media team creates
complex Web applications and rich media.
They support Web site hosting and Web
site maintenance services for other Federal
Agencies, including content management,
Web statistics reporting, database management, and administration. In addition,
they offer Web application development
and digital consulting services to ensure
compliance with Federal mandates.

Publication and Information Sales
Program Through this business unit
GPO increases public access to U.S.
Government information through sales
of Government information products.
The public purchases copies of Federal
Government publications and subscriptions via GPO’s Online Bookstore, as
well as by e-mail, phone, fax, and postal
mail. GPO also works with commercial
sales channels, including major bookstore
chains and leading book distributors
nationwide, to enhance Government
information distribution. In addition to its
traditional sales activities, GPO provides
Government agencies with expert advice
on how to make their publications more
user-friendly and commercially viable.
Reimbursable Services Program
This business unit provides a variety of
global order fulfillment, inventory, and list
management services to Federal agencies
through two distribution centers located in
Pueblo, Colorado, and Laurel, Maryland.
The business unit supports the U.S.
General Services Administration’s popular
Federal Citizen Information Center.
Library Services and Content
Management This business unit supports and manages the Federal Depository
Library Program (FDLP), the Cataloging and
Indexing Program, the By-Law Program,
and the distribution component of the
International Exchange Service of the
Library of Congress. The FDLP, under the
direction of Congress, ensures equitable,
secure, convenient, and permanent no-fee
access to published U.S. Government
information. The FDLP includes 1,249
designated Federal depository libraries
throughout the United States and its territories that provide the American public
access to U.S. Government publications in
tangible collections, and GPO Access, which
provides direct online access to Federal
Government publications from all three
branches of Government. Other popular
online services managed by this business
unit include the Catalog of U.S. Government
Publications, the FDLP Desktop, and Ben’s
Guide to the U.S. Government.
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Management Initiatives
to Improve Agency Operations
The transformation program underway
at GPO places emphasis on the effective
and efficient accomplishment of GPO’s
mission, while at the same time maintaining the Agency’s core values of integrity,
teamwork, commitment, and dependability. The Strategic Vision for the 21st Century
continues to keep GPO on track to embrace sustainable technology of the 21st
century. Policy decisions, budgeting and
capital investments decisions, workforce
development plans, industry partnerships,
customer relations, operational decisionmaking, and related actions are based on
or tied to the transformation plan.
The following is an overview of some
of the major management initiatives
underway that will transform GPO. These
transformation efforts, along with other
modernization efforts, will enable GPO to
better satisfy the existing and future needs
of the U. S. Congress, customer agencies,
the library and information communities,
and the public.
GPO’s Federal Digital System
(FDsys) The core of GPO’s future,
customer-facing operations will revolve
around a new digital information platform
called the GPO’s Federal Digital System
(FDsys). FDsys will organize, manage, and
output authenticated content for any purpose. This system will manage information
in a central repository that will contain
all public documents of the Government
and reduce that information to a uniform
character set and coding structure for data.
FDsys will preserve content independent
of specific hardware or software so that it
can be migrated forward for the benefit of
future generations.
Eventually all known Federal documents, whether printed or digital, will be
cataloged, authenticated, and entered into
the FDsys according to GPO metadata
and document creation standards. Content
may include text and associated graphics, video, and sound. Content will be
available for Web searching and Internet
viewing, downloading, and printing.
FDsys will replace current GPO Access
functionality with the first public release
in fiscal 2009. The public will benefit from

the more advanced search and retrieval
capabilities, including the ability to search
both full text content and metadata fields.
Content and metadata will be available for
downloading through FDsys.
Mapping the Future of the FDLP
In the future, the FDLP will determine the
content of FDsys, as well as set standards
for Federal documents, authenticate
documents, catalog and manage the
content, and determine the standards for
preservation of the content for coming generations. The depository library
community will help define the future of
this program while continuing to move it
toward an electronic environment in the
digital age, as required by Congress.
Customer-Friendly Print
Procurement Vehicles The Agency
has established two new programs that allow GPO customers to work directly with
GPO vendors. Growth in these programs,
which generally handle small value or
short turnaround requirements, improve
GPO and customer agency efficiency
and effectiveness in delivering services to
agency clients.
The GPOExpressSM Program allows
Federal government personnel to order
from any FedEx OfficeSM print center, day
or night, at any of the more than 1,800
locations throughout the United States
and around the world. Agencies receive
significant discounts on printing and
finishing needs at any store location when
they use the new GPOExpressSM card.
GPOExpressSM continues to grow in use
by Federal customers, with program sales
nearly doubling over the last fiscal year.
The GPO Online Paper Store allows
Federal Government organizations to
purchase, at significant savings, environmentally safe, xerographic copier paper
using a Web-based system. GPO teamed
with Unisource® Worldwide, Inc., a global
paper distributor, to develop the online
store. Unisource® Worldwide, Inc. has
approximately 100 distribution centers that
quickly fill customer orders.
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Modernizing Agency Information
Systems GPO launched the GPO
Enterprise Program in 2004 to replace
unsustainable legacy systems. This major
project has been progressively implementing modern application systems that
support GPO business and support units.
Phase 2 of this modernization project
commenced in 2007. The applications,
known collectively as the Government
Printing Office Business Information
System (GBIS), will become operational in
fiscal 2009. GBIS will replace mainframe
software placed into operation more than
30 years ago. In 2008, GPO acquired
Business Objects licenses for use with
Oracle applications. Business Objects will
provide seamless reporting functionality
from GBIS. Together, the two initiatives
will deliver high-performance analysis,
data integration, and efficiency between
sustainable business applications.
International Organization for
Standardization (ISO) 9001
Certification GPO is aggressively
pursuing ISO 9001 certification. Obtaining
certification will provide a framework
and systematic approach to managing the
Agency’s business processes to produce
products and services that conform to
reference documents that are globally
accepted. The certification process will
improve the Agency’s processes, save
resources, and improve product quality.
Process Improvement Methodology
The Agency is re-energizing its emphasis
on process improvement methodologies.
GPO will be analyzing and re-engineering
programs and processes to be less costly,
faster, and more effective. This program
will include adopting appropriate
characteristics and capabilities of highperforming organizations; developing
and identifying best practices to assess
organizational transformation, structure,
and management; and conducting targeted
reviews and assessments of management
practices in industry and applying best
practices and lessons learned.
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Financial Position and
Results for Fiscal Year 2008
The following is an overview of the
financial position and operating results
reflected in GPO’s basic consolidated
financial statements as of and for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2008.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
The consolidated balance sheets present the combined amounts the Agency
had available to use (assets), versus the
amounts the Agency owed (liabilities), and
the residual amounts (net position) after
liabilities were subtracted from assets.
GPO’s total assets increased to $575.3
million as of September 30, 2008 from
$525.7 million as of September 30, 2007.
The increase of $49.6 million (9.4 percent)
in total assets is primarily attributable to
a $39.6 million increase in general plant,
property and equipment. This increase
occurred mainly because of $24.7 million
in equipment acquisitions and leasehold
improvements for GPO’s new Secure
Passport Facility, and $11.2 million for
the FDsys project. Inventory increased to
$48.3 million as of September 30, 2008
from $34.6 million as of September 30,
2007, an increase of $13.7 million. The
growth in inventory is due to increased
demand for e-Passports and the need to
have an adequate base of raw materials to
support two production facilities.
GPO’s liabilities increased to $281.3
million as of September 30, 2008 from
$272.4 million as of September 30, 2007.
The net increase of $8.9 million (3.3
percent) in total liabilities is primarily the
result of an increase in deferred revenues
of $7.7 million, an increase in accounts
payable and other accrued expenses of
$3.5 million, and a decrease in the product
warranty liability of $3.4 million.
The increase in deferred revenues is a
result of an increase of $8.3 million in customer deposit accounts for printing and
binding. The number of customer deposit
accounts maintained by GPO increased to
1,003 as of September 30, 2008 from 865
as of September 30, 2007. An increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses
of $3.5 million was primarily attributable to the increased demand for goods
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and services acquired by GPO from the
commercial sector. The product warranty
liability decreased to $1.4 million as of
September 30, 2008, from $4.8 million
as of September 30, 2007 as a result of
the formalization of a Memorandum of
Understanding with the U.S. Department
of State (State) regarding the production
of e-Passports that limits the product warranty liability of the GPO.
GPO’s net position increased to
$294.1 million as of September 30, 2008
from $253.3 million as of September 30,
2007. The increase of $40.8 million (16.1
percent) in GPO’s net position is primarily
a result of the consolidated net income
of $46.3 million for fiscal 2008. The $46.3
million of net income includes contributions to new investment of $18.4 million
for e-Passport requirements and $6.8
million for FDsys requirements.
Consolidated Statements
of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Retained Earnings
The consolidated statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in retained earnings present the accrued reimbursements
for goods sold and services provided
(revenues), the accrued cost of assets and
services used (expenses) in the creation
of revenues, and the change, within the
period presented, of the accumulated
net income of the Agency (changes in
retained earnings).
Consolidated Revenues
GPO had total consolidated revenues of
$1.042 billion for fiscal 2008 and $939
million for fiscal 2007. This is an increase in
revenues of $103 million (11 percent).
The primary reason for the increase
in revenues from the prior fiscal year was
an increase in e-Passport revenues, which
grew from $241.5 million in fiscal 2007 to
$300.6 million in fiscal 2008, an increase
of $59.1 million (24.5 percent). The GPO
Customer Services business unit, which
procures printing from the commercial
sector, experienced revenue growth of
$49.3 million (10.2 percent) from $483.3
million in fiscal 2007 to $532.6 million in
fiscal 2008.
GPO’s consolidated revenues are
derived from four major sources: Printing
and Binding services; Appropriations; Sales

of Publications; and Agency Distributions.
A brief discussion of each of these revenue
sources follows.
n  Printing and Binding Revenues
The Agency earns revenues from Federal
Government customers for printing, binding, and other related services performed
by GPO business units and from work
performed by commercial contractors. The
printing and binding revenues are based
on a system of rates, prices, and surcharges designed to recover costs. The revenues
for printing and binding originate from the
programs and operations of four business
units at GPO: Plant Operations, Security
and Intelligent Documents, Customer
Services, and Creative and Digital Media
Services. The revenues earned from an
in-plant job are generally recognized
on a value-added basis, as the work is
performed in GPO’s production operations. The revenues from a commercially
procured job are generally recognized on
the date that the contract requirements
are fulfilled. For procured jobs, this is the
date of shipment by the contractor to the
Federal Government customer.
Revenues from printing and binding
operations totaled $890.6 million for fiscal
2008 and $780.5 million for fiscal 2007.
This represents an increase in revenues
of $110.1 million (14.1 percent). As
mentioned, two business units generated
most of the revenue growth, Security
and Intelligent Documents and Customer
Services.
Security and Intelligent Documents
revenues increased due to increased
demand for e-Passports by the State
Department. GPO produced 24.0 million
passports in fiscal 2008, of which 23.6
million were e-Passports, compared to
20.4 million in fiscal 2007, of which 14.8
million were e-Passports.
The new e-Passports, which GPO
started producing in fiscal 2007, contain a
computer chip and other security features
required by the State. In fiscal 2008 and
2007, the GPO and the State agreed to a
price per e-Passport that reimbursed GPO
for the total costs required to manufacture
the new e-Passports. The price included
sufficient reimbursement to fund the costs
of constructing and operating the new
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SPF, the purchase of SPF equipment, the
procurement of the necessary inventory
of raw materials required to ensure the
timely and uninterrupted production of
e-Passports, and a contribution to GPO investment. Revenues for these requirements
were $18.4 million in fiscal 2008 and $48.7
million in fiscal 2007. The GPO operates
under the accrual basis of accounting in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. As such, revenues
are recognized when they are earned,
and expenses are recognized when they
are incurred, without regard to the timing
of the receipt or disbursement of cash.
The expenses that relate to capital assets
acquired with these revenues appear as
depreciation expense and begin when
these assets are placed into service. The
expense will continue over their useful
lives. The SPF and some of the related
equipment were placed into service in
May 2008.
Customer Services business unit
revenues increased 10.2 percent to $532.6
million in fiscal 2008 from $483.3 million
in fiscal 2007. The $49.3 million increase is
attributable to new business with existing
customers. New work with the Department
of Defense, the U.S. Department of State,
the Millennium Challenge Corporation, and
the U.S. Department of Commerce are the
chief reasons for the increase. Customer
Services revenue also increased in the
GPOExpressSM program, to $6.5 million
from $3.1 million, and in the reimbursable
postage program, to $11.4 million from
$5.7 million.
n  Appropriation Revenues
The GPO receives annual, no-year, and
multi-year appropriations from Congress
to finance certain costs in accordance with
the underlying appropriation act and enabling legislation. The Legislative Branch
Appropriations Act, 2008 (Public Law
110-161, December 26, 2007) made a total
of $125.0 million in annual appropriations
available to the Agency for fiscal 2008.
A subsequent rescission of 0.25 percent
reduced the 2008 appropriations available
to GPO by almost $313,000.
Revenues earned from appropriations
totaled $130.1 million for fiscal 2008
and $137.0 million for fiscal 2007. The
decrease in revenues of $6.9 million

(5 percent) is primarily the result of a
decrease in appropriation expenditures by
the Agency for CP&B.
The CP&B Appropriation, an annual
appropriation, is primarily used to fund
printing and binding services provided
to Congress by GPO’s Plant Operations.
The requirements of Congress (workload)
placed on GPO fluctuate because of many
variables and therefore, cannot be forecast
with a high degree of certainty for budgeting purposes. Revenues from this appropriation were $83.9 million in fiscal 2008
and $95.0 million in fiscal 2007, a decrease
of $11.1 million (11.7 percent).
Despite the decrease in CP&B expenditures in fiscal 2008 (when compared
with fiscal 2007), the fiscal 2008 CP&B appropriation is estimated to have a shortfall
in funding of about $6.2 million, and the
overall CP&B Program is estimated to
have a shortfall of $8.8 million to complete the Congressional printing requirements of fiscal 2008 and prior years. In
2008, Congress authorized the transfer of
about $1.23 million in prior year appropriations to the GPO Revolving Fund
to help finance shortfalls. Generally, the
CP&B Appropriation has been adequate
to cover the costs of GPO services to
Congress. However, in those years where
the Congressional printing requirements
exceed the annual funding provided by
Congress, GPO uses the Revolving Fund
to temporarily fund the shortfall until sufficient appropriated funds are available.
The S&E Appropriation is provided
annually by Congress to fund the dissemination of Federal Government information
to the public by GPO’s Library Services
and Content Management business unit.
Revenues from this appropriation were
$31.7 million in fiscal 2008 and $29.3
million in fiscal 2007.
In fiscal 2005, Congress authorized
the transfer of prior year appropriated
funds to the Revolving Fund to finance
the development of FDsys and to cover
annual appropriation shortfalls. In fiscal
2008, GPO recognized revenues of $6.5
million to develop FDsys and $6.9 million
to cover annual appropriation shortfalls.
In fiscal 2007, these amounts were $11.7
million and $467,000, respectively.
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In fiscal 2006 and 2007, Congress
appropriated $2 million ($1,980,000 after
rescission) and $1 million to the Revolving
Fund for workforce retraining, respectively. Revenues from this appropriation
were $677,000 in fiscal 2008 and $469,000
in fiscal 2007.
Sales of Publications Revenues
GPO earns revenues from the sales of
publications to the public and others. The
Publication and Information Sales Program
sells publications, subscriptions, and other
Federal Government information products
at prices designed to recover costs. The
demand for printed products continues to
decline due to expansion in the availability of free information from the Federal
Government on the Internet.
Revenues from sales of publications
totaled $15.9 million for fiscal 2008 and
$16.0 million for fiscal 2007. This represents a small decrease in revenues of
$166,000 (1.0 percent).

n   

Agency Distribution Revenues
GPO earns revenues from Federal
agencies for the storage, packaging, and
distribution of Federal Government publications to the public and others. Agency
Distributions provides these services on
a cost reimbursement basis, and at rates
and prices designed to recover costs.
Revenues from Agency Distributions
totaled $5.8 million for fiscal 2008 and
$5.6 million for fiscal 2007. This represents
an increase in revenues of $265,000 (4.7
percent). Revenues for this program tend
to fluctuate because of the varying level of
demand for services from customers.

n   

Consolidated Expenses
GPO incurred total consolidated operating expenses of $996.2 million for fiscal
2008 and $848.2 million for fiscal 2007, an
increase of $148.0 million (17.4 percent).
The increase in operating expenses is due
primarily to the growth in the demand for
e-Passports which resulted in a relative
rise in costs for supplies and materials.
A similar increase in the printing and
reproduction expenses of the Customer
Services business unit was realized to support the business unit’s revenue growth.
A brief description of the major expense
categories for the Agency follows.
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n  Printing and Reproduction Expenses
GPO incurred expenses for printing and
reproduction of $470.5 million for fiscal
2008 and $423.8 million for fiscal 2007.
This represents an increase in printing and
reproduction expenses of $46.7 million
(11.0 percent). The Customer Services and
Library Services and Content Management
business units incur almost all of the printing and reproduction costs of the GPO.
The Customer Services business unit
incurs costs for printing that is purchased
from the private sector and is passedthrough to the GPO’s Federal customers.
The increase in printing and reproduction
expenses for fiscal 2008 was primarily attributable to Customer Services purchasing
$42.8 million more in printing from contractors. The Library Services and Content
Management business unit purchases and
distributes Government publications to the
1,249 Federal depository libraries located
throughout the United States. The printing and reproduction expenses for this
business unit increased to $10.1 million in
fiscal 2008 from $8.7 million in fiscal 2007,
an increase of $1.4 million (16.1 percent).
n  Personnel Compensation and
Benefits Expenses
GPO incurred expenses for personnel compensation and benefits of $224.7 million
during fiscal 2008 and $198.7 million during
fiscal 2007. This represents an increase
in personnel compensation and benefit
expenses of $26.0 million (13.1 percent).
The increase is due to an increase in the
number of employees and to mandated
annual pay increases that typically occur in January of each calendar year. As
of September 30, 2008, GPO had 2,398
employees, compared to 2,291 at the same
time in fiscal 2007. This increase of 107
employees (4.7 percent) can be attributed
to additional headcount needed to support
the growth in e-Passports. The Secure and
Intelligent Documents business unit, which
produces and supports e-Passports, added
87 employees during fiscal 2008.
n  Supplies and Materials Expenses
GPO incurred expenses for supplies and
materials of $214.8 million for fiscal 2008
and $152.2 million for fiscal 2007. This
represents an increase in supplies and
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materials expenses of $62.6 million (41.1
percent). The two business units that
incur significant costs for supplies and
materials are the Security and Intelligent
Documents and Plant Operations business
units. These units operate large production facilities that use significant quantities
of supplies, materials and paper. The
supplies and materials expense group also
includes equipment, furniture, and vehicle
purchases that were expensed because
they did not meet the Agency’s capitalization threshold. The $62.6 million increase
in supplies and materials consumed is
primarily attributable to the increase in the
production volume of e-Passports.
n  Other Services Expenses
This expense category includes the cost of
professional services provided by contractors for audits, investigations, consulting
services, system development, tuition, and
training. These expenses are recognized
when the contractual services have been
performed. This expense category also includes the warranty expense for passports.
GPO incurred expenses for these services
of $29.7 million for fiscal 2008 and $23.9
million for fiscal 2007. This represents an
increase in this category of expenses of
$5.8 million (24.3 percent). The increase
was primarily attributable to the net effect
of a $7.1 million increase in consulting
services and a $3.5 million increase in
information maintenance, both related to
new systems, a $4.7 million increase in
bad debt expense, and an $8.2 million
decrease in product warranty expense
for e-Passports as a result of reducing the
liability established in fiscal 2007 of $4.8
million by $3.4 million in fiscal 2008.

Travel, Transportation, and Postage
Expenses
This expense group includes the cost of
employee travel and relocation, commercial transportation and delivery services,
and postage and commercial mailing
services. GPO incurred expenses for
travel, transportation and postage of $23.7
million for fiscal 2008 and $16.4 million
for fiscal 2007. This represents an increase
of $7.3 million (44.5 percent), and it is
primarily attributable to an increase in
n  

reimbursable postage cost of $5.9 million
over fiscal 2007, due to an increase in
customer orders requiring this service.
n  Rents, Communications,
and Utilities Expenses
This expense category includes rents for
building space outside of Washington,
DC, leased equipment and vehicles, and
utilities. GPO incurred expenses for rents,
communications, and utilities of $16.5
million for fiscal 2008 and $15.9 million
for fiscal 2007. This represents an increase
of $634,000 (4.0 percent).

Depreciation and Amortization
Expense
Total depreciation and amortization
expense for fiscal 2008 was $10.4 million
compared with $8.9 million in fiscal 2007.
The increase in depreciation and amortization expense is primarily the result of
placing the SPF and SPF equipment into
service during fiscal 2008.
n  

n  Publications Sold Expenses
This expense is incurred when GPO’s
Publication and Information Sales business
unit sells publications, subscriptions, and
other Federal Government information
products to customers. This expense
totaled $5.9 million in fiscal 2008 compared
to $8.4 million in fiscal 2007. Fiscal 2007
expenses included an adjustment to write
inventory down to stock on hand. This adjustment was not necessary in fiscal 2008.

Changes in Retained Earnings
GPO’s retained earnings increased $46.3
million to $154.4 million at the end of
fiscal 2008, compared to about $108.2 million at the end of fiscal 2007. The increase
reflects the accrual basis net income
earned by GPO in fiscal 2008.
The GPO’s financial statements are
prepared using U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) and the
accrual basis of accounting. Under GAAP
and the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recognized when earned and
expenses are recognized when incurred,
without regard to the timing of the receipt
or disbursement of cash. Timing differences may occur in the recognition of net
income and the expenses associated with
the future use of the net income.
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During fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007,
the GPO set aside $25.2 million and
$60.4 million, respectively, of net income
to fund planned uses (approved and
required investments in capital projects)
related to the production of e-Passports
and the development of FDsys. Of these
amounts, $14.1 million and $20.9 million
of the funds set aside for fiscal 2008 and
fiscal 2007 respectively, is to maintain an
adequate and uninterrupted supply of
passport raw materials. With the exception
of funding for inventory, these investments
are recognized as depreciation or amortization expense, over the investment’s useful life, beginning at the time it is placed
into service. The SPF and some related
equipment were placed into service in
May 2008, and the investment in the SPF’s
construction and equipment is expected
to be recognized as depreciation expense
over varying periods of up to fifteen years.
The first release of the FDsys is expected
to be placed into service in fiscal 2009,
and the portion of the investment placed
into service will be amortized (depreciated) over a period of five years.
As presented in the table above right,
GPO’s net income includes the planned
uses of net income as approved by appropriate parties. As indicated above, the
capital investments will be recognized as
depreciation and amortization expense
over the specific investment’s useful life.
Thus, income has been recorded in one
year, and the related amortization expense
in future years.
Excluding the impact of the timing
differences between income and expenses
as noted above, the GPO had net income
after planned uses of $21.0 million (2.0
percent) on revenue of $1.042 billion
in fiscal 2008, compared to net income
after planned uses of $30.5 million (3.2
percent) on revenue of $939.1 million in
fiscal 2007.
Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows
The consolidated statements of cash flows
present the Agency’s cash position at
the beginning and end of the reporting
period, and the sources and uses of cash
for all operating, investing, and financing
activities.

(Dollars in thousands)
2008
Consolidated Net Income
Planned Uses of Income:
Secure Production Facility
Passport Inventory Funding
GPO’s Federal Digital System (FDsys)
Total Planned Uses of Income
Net Income after Planned Uses

Fund Balance with Treasury (cash)
decreased by $8.2 million during fiscal
2008 compared with an increase of $43.6
million in fiscal 2007. The decrease in
fiscal 2008 cash is the net result of the
following.
n In fiscal 2008, GPO generated $44.5
million from operations compared with
$81.5 million in fiscal 2007.
n

Cash invested in capital assets was
$47.2 million in fiscal 2008 compared
with $22.4 million in fiscal 2007. The
increase in capital investments was
due to outlays for construction of facilities and the purchase of equipment
for the SPF, and outlays for FDsys.

n

Financing activities used $5.5 million
in cash in fiscal 2008, compared with
$15.5 million in fiscal 2007. Less cash
was provided to the Agency from
appropriated sources as the appropriated funds for FDsys were fully
expended in fiscal 2008. Cash for this
capital project is now provided from
operations.

Performance Measures
GPO gauges its overall efficiency and
effectiveness using certain performance
measures. Generally, these performance
measures are based on established
standards, goals, or objectives that are
compared against actual performance or
results for each fiscal year. The following
sections discuss the major operating performance measures and financial performance measures used by the Agency.
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2007

$ 46,261

$ 90,883

4,318

27,800

14,100

20,919

6,800

11,700

25,218

60,419

$ 21,043

$ 30,464

Operating Performance Measures
On-Time Delivery of
Congressional Record
The Congressional Record is the official
record of the proceedings and debates
of the Congress. This important Federal
information product is published daily
when Congress is in session. GPO uses a
performance measure to evaluate the timeliness of the delivery of this core product
to Congress. To measure GPO’s success
in delivering the Congressional Record
to Congress on time, GPO established a
deadline of 9 a.m. the following day when
copy is received in GPO by midnight,
regardless of whether the Senate or the
House of Representatives is in session. The
on-time delivery rate was 96 percent for
fiscal 2008 and 77 percent for fiscal 2007.
The Agency’s goal of 95 percent or better
was achieved for fiscal 2008. The goal will
remain the same for fiscal 2009.
On-Time Delivery and Quality
Acceptance of Procured Printing
Customer Services contracted with commercial businesses to produce and ship
104,600 jobs for GPO customers in fiscal
2008. For fiscal 2008, the goals were to
have at least 95 percent of procured printing orders delivered on schedule and a
quality acceptance rate of at least 99 percent. Customer Services met both of these
goals for fiscal 2008, with 96.1 percent
of procured printing jobs delivered on
time and a quality acceptance rate of 99.5
percent. In comparison, GPO contractors
shipped 107,600 jobs in fiscal 2007, with
95.9 percent of the procured printing jobs
delivered on time and a quality acceptance rate of 99.3 percent. The two goals
will remain the same for fiscal 2009.
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Orders placed at GPO have decreased
over the last two years due primarily to
the success of the GPOExpressSM Program.
This program enables Federal customers
to purchase small printing jobs directly
from a nationwide contractor, without
sending the order to GPO. For fiscal 2008,
customers used GPOExpressSM to place
12,100 orders to purchase $6,454,000 in
convenience printing jobs locally without going through GPO. In fiscal 2007,
customers placed nearly 1,300 orders to
purchase $3,142,000 in convenience printing jobs through this program.
Financial Performance Measures
Cash Management
Payment Performance
In fiscal 2008, GPO continued to save
millions of dollars by taking favorable
prompt payment discounts offered by
contractors for the payment of invoices
within the discount period. GPO earned
prompt payment discounts of $6.4 million
on purchased printing expense of $475.7
million. In comparison, GPO earned $6.4
million in discounts on $436.2 million in
printing expenses last year. The average
discount rate earned was 1.35 percent
for fiscal 2008 and 1.5 percent for fiscal
2007. The average discount rate earned
for fiscal 2008 was just short of the goal of
1.4 percent. The goal will be the same for
fiscal 2009.
Lost prompt payment discounts
decreased to $363,000 in fiscal 2008 from
$434,000 in fiscal 2007. The percentages
of discounts lost to discounts offered were
5.4 percent and 6.4 percent in fiscal 2008
and 2007, respectively. GPO did not meet
its goal of 2.5 percent or less for fiscal
2008. The lost discounts were generally
due to inadequate supporting documentation and other essential information
needed to properly examine and certify
invoices for payment in a timely manner.
The Agency’s goal will be the same for
fiscal 2009.

Electronic Payments
Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) is the
most secure, efficient, and economical
method of making payments to GPO
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contractors, employees, and other nonFederal entities. While it costs the U.S.
Government $.89 to issue each check
payment, the cost is only $.09 to issue
an EFT payment. In fiscal 2008 about 80
percent of GPO payments were made by
EFT. In comparison, about 93 percent of
all payments were made by EFT last year.
The decrease is due to an EFT software
problem that occurred in mid-2008 that
required GPO to issue paper checks to
contractors. The Agency’s EFT payment
goal for fiscal 2008 was 90 percent of all
payments. Thus, GPO did not achieve this
goal in fiscal 2009. The EFT payment goal
will remain at 90 percent for fiscal 2009.
Debt Management
Federal Receivables
GPO billed customers about $1.0 billion
for printing and binding services during
fiscal 2008. The U.S. Department of the
Treasury’s Intra-governmental Payment
and Collection (IPAC) System was used to
collect about $844.6 million or 84.5 percent
of this debt from customers. Additionally,
about $47.8 million, or 4.8 percent of this
debt, was collected from funds held in
customer Printing and Binding Deposit
Accounts maintained by GPO. Furthermore,
$18.8 million, or 1.9 percent of this debt,
was collected via credit card. These
electronic-based methods allow the prompt
collection of funds, as opposed to the
more traditional methods of collection that
require the creation and exchange of paper
documents and checks through the mail.
GPO’s billed accounts receivable from
Federal Government customers totaled
approximately $47.4 million at the end of
fiscal 2008, compared with $38.4 million at
the end of fiscal 2007. In comparison, the
billed accounts receivables increased by
$9.0 million.
IPAC collections initiated by GPO are
sometimes charged back by Federal agencies, the customers, for various reasons.
In these instances, GPO contacts the
customer and inquires about the reason(s)
for non-payment of the indebtedness. In
most instances, the customer’s financial
representative requires additional information and supporting documentation

on the billing before the IPAC collection
is allowed. IPAC charge backs totaled
approximately $19.2 million at the end of
fiscal 2008 and $22.2 million at the end of
fiscal 2007.
The U.S. Department of Defense
(DoD) is GPO’s second largest customer
and largest debtor. Exclusive of IPAC
charge backs, DoD owed GPO about $7.3
million at September 30, 2008, of which
$6.7 million, or 91.8 percent, was past due
in payment (i.e., over 30 days old). DoD
owed $567,000 for invoices between 31
to 60 days old, $810,000 between 61 to
90 days old, and about $5.3 million over
90 days old. DoD’s indebtedness to GPO
of $5.3 million represents 19.9 percent of
GPO’s total billed accounts receivables of
$26.6 million, over 90 days old, at yearend. At September 30, 2007, DoD owed
$7.1 million to GPO.
At the end of the year, GPO maintained 1,003 P&B deposit accounts valued
at $82.9 million. Additionally, GPO held
$3.3 million in customer deposit accounts
for the Publication and Information Sales
Program. Combined, these customer deposit accounts totaled about $86.2 million
as of September 30, 2008. At September
30, 2007, GPO maintained $78.0 million
in these two customer deposit accounts
($74.3 million and $3.7 million, respectively). The $8.2 million increase is primarily
attributable to new customers, more accounts, and existing customers increasing
their account balances.
Customer agencies also have the
option of paying for their printing and
binding needs by credit card. Credit card
transactions in fiscal 2008 totaled $18.8
million for 24,654 printing jobs. In comparison, credit card transactions totaled
$16.9 million for 24,039 printing jobs in
fiscal 2007.

Possible Future Effects of Existing
Events and Conditions
Several existing events and conditions
will likely have a major impact on the
Agency’s programs and operations in the
future. A synopsis of each of these major
events and conditions follows.
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Major Investments in
New Technology
GPO is making significant investments in
digital production capabilities and modern
information technology systems to move
core infrastructure onto efficient, sustainable platforms. The Office of Innovation
and New Technology continues to identify
new technologies and practices to help
the Agency move forward as a world-class
organization. The Agency is making significant investments in information technologies to improve performance. First,
Phase 1 of the FDsys Project will replace
GPO Access in fiscal 2009. Afterwards, the
FDsys project will continue with efforts
to integrate and modernize operations.
Second, GBIS will continue to replace
old legacy systems with modern Oracle
applications. Phase 2 of the GBIS commenced in 2007 and should be completed
in fiscal 2009.
Demand for Security and
Intelligent Documents
The continued production of security and
intelligent documents, such as e-Passports
and smartcards, and the development
of new security documents such as
Federal identification cards will be vital to
GPO’s success. Demand for e-Passports
is expected to be about 10.4 million
e-Passports annually. In contrast, GPO
produced 24,013,400 total passports, of
which 23,580,900 were e-Passports in
fiscal 2008, and 20,408,300 total passports
(14,815,400 e-Passports) in fiscal 2007.
Demand growth is expected, however, for sensitive documents, such as
smartcards, immigration forms, Public Key
Infrastructure (PKI) electronic certificates
for credentialing, and traditional and
embedded electronics security documents.
Possible Federal Appropriation
Reductions
Printing and duplicating are generally
considered a discretionary cost for Federal
customers. The Continuing Resolution

(Public Law 110-329, dated September
30, 2008) in regard to fiscal 2009 appropriation bills, and possible future budget
reductions and restrictions on growth, may
impact the availability of funds for Federal
Government printing and duplicating in
the future.
Decline in Ink-on-Paper Products
GPO continues to manufacture and sell
a sizable array of Federal Government
information products to the public. An
upward trend in Government electronic
documents available on the Internet, and
a downward trend in customer demand
for printed documents will continue to
place downward pressure on sales. After
many years of year-to-year declines, the
Publication and Information Sales Program
business unit did generate a positive contribution margin for the first time in more
than five years. The major management focus has been to identify market segments
for the program’s vast product offerings,
to employ focused advertising, and to
provide better customer service to a niche
customer base. This effort has stabilized
the revenue decline and when combined
with further operating expense reductions, has created a major turnaround
for the program. However, operational
efficiencies must improve continuously to
maintain positive operating margins.

Fiscal Year 2009
Financial Projections
Congress established the GPO Revolving
Fund to finance the operations of the
Agency on July 1, 1953. The receipts and
disbursements from the Agency’s continuing cycle of business-type operations are
recorded in the GPO Revolving Fund that
was established to be financially selfsustaining.
The Agency’s overall financial objective
has been to earn revenues sufficient to recover all costs, including depreciation and
overhead, in accordance with Section 309
of Title 44. This is accomplished through
a system of rates, prices, and surcharges
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used to bill customers for goods delivered
and services performed by the Agency.
The Agency has achieved this financial
objective, by recording net income in
fiscal years 2004 through 2008. This recent
trend represents a positive turnaround in
financial performance for the Agency. The
GPO had net losses for five straight years
before fiscal 2004.
In fiscal 2008, the Agency realized net
income of $46.3 million or $21.0 million
after planned uses of the net income. In
fiscal 2007, net income was $90.9 million
or $30.5 after planned uses of the net
income. The Agency has a revenue and
expense budget for fiscal 2009 of $2.1 million in net income. This is a sharp drop in
net income compared with the prior two
years. In fiscal 2008 and 2007, the GPO
had unusually large revenues derived
from the unexpected and unprecedented
demand for e-Passports, which included
a fee component for e-Passport investments, such as the construction of the SPF
facility and the associated requirement
for necessary raw materials inventory
to support the e-Passports demand. In
fiscal 2009, the GPO projects a reduction
in e-Passport revenue due to a return
to normal passport demand, less-appropriation revenue to fund the continuing
FDsys capital project, and an increase
in operating expenses, due to mandated
salary increases and depreciation expense
increases related to the SPF.
The Agency’s transformation, customer
demand for secure and intelligent documents, and other management initiatives
completed and underway have put GPO’s
operations back on sound footing, both
organizationally and financially. The
Agency’s positive trend in financial performance is expected to continue into fiscal
2009. Positive financial results help ensure
that the GPO Revolving Fund remains
financially self-sustaining as Congress
intended and that GPO can continue
Keeping America Informed.
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U NI T ED STAT ES G OV ERNMENT P RI NT I NG OFFICE

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of September 30, 2008 and 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
2008

2007

$ 265,251

$ 273,446

ASSETS		
Current assets		
		 Fund balance with Treasury (Note 2)
		 Accounts receivable, net (Note 3)		

153,696		

146,118

		 Inventory, net (Note 4)		

48,291		

34,592

		 Prepaid expenses (Note 5)		

903 		

3,958

			 Total current assets		

468,141		

458,114

General property, plant and equipment, net (Note 6)		

107,194		

67,600

			 Total assets		

$ 575,335

$ 525,714

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 		
Current liabilities		
		 Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 7)

$ 112,858

$ 109,324

		 Deferred revenues (Note 8)		

89,376		

81,715

		 Accrued annual leave 		

10,549 		

9,813

			 Total current liabilities		

212,783		

200,852

		 Workers’ compensation liability (Note 9)		

67,067		

66,723

		 Product warranty liabilities (Note 10)		

1,418		

4,833

		 Total liabilities		

281,268		

272,408

			 Retained earnings 		

154,425		

108,164

			 Invested capital		

92,879		

92,879

		 Unexpended appropriations		

46,763		

52,263

Total net position		

294,067		

253,306

Other liabilities		

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10 and 11)		
Net position (Note 12)		
		 Cumulative results of operations:		

		

			 Total liabilities and total net position

$ 575,335

$ 525,714

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Retained Earnings
For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2008 and 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
2008

2007

OPERATING REVENUES 				
Printing and binding

$ 890,630

Appropriations 		
Sales of publications
Agency distributions		
		

Total operating revenues

$

780,482

130,111		

137,041

15,866		

16,032

5,818

5,553

1,042,425		

939,108

OPERATING EXPENSES 			
Printing and reproduction

470,454		

423,845

Personnel compensation and benefits

224,688		

198,722

Supplies and materials

214,848 		

152,182

Other services		

29,685		

23,901

Travel, transportation, and postage

23,690		

16,428

Rents, communications, and utilities

16,507 		

15,873

Depreciation and amortization

10,428		

8,850

5,864 		

8,424

996,164		

848,225

46,261		

90,883

108,164		

17,281

Publications sold
		

Total operating expenses

		

Net Income

		

Retained Earnings, beginning of year

		

Retained Earnings, end of year

$

154,425

$

108,164

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30, 2008 and 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
2008

2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 		
Net income 		

$

46,261

$

90,883

10,428 		

8,850

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 		
		

provided by operating activities:		

			

Depreciation and amortization

			

Gain on disposal of general property, plant and equipment

		

(16)		

(3)

Changes in assets and liabilities:		

			

(Increase) decrease in assets-		

				

Accounts receivable

				

Inventory

				

Prepaid expenses

			

(7,578)		

(36,572)

(13,699) 		

(21,498)

200		

585

Increase (decrease) in liabilities-		

				

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

3,534		

25,316

				

Deferred revenues

7,661		

12,155

				

Accrued annual leave

736 		

227

				

Workers’ compensation liability

				

Product warranty liability

(3,415)

				

Total adjustments

(1,805)		

(9,335)

				

Net cash provided by operating activities

44,456 		

81,548

(47,167)		

(22,410)

344 		

(3,228)
4,833

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 		
Capital purchases
Proceeds from sale of general property, plant and equipment
				

16		

Net cash used in investing activities

3

(47,151)		

(22,407)

(5,500)		

(15,500)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in unexpended appropriations
				

Net cash used in financing activities

(5,500)		

(15,500)

				

Net (decrease) increase in fund balance with Treasury

(8,195) 		

43,641

273,446 		

229,805

265,251

273,446

Fund balance with Treasury, beginning of year
Fund balance with Treasury, end of year

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SECTION IV (cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
September 30, 2008 and 2007

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity
The U.S. Government Printing Office (GPO or Agency) is a Legislative Branch agency of the Federal Government. The Agency’s
mission and authority are derived from various statutes codified in Title 44, Public Printing and Documents, of the United States Code
(U.S.C.). The Congress established GPO to provide the Federal Government with an efficient and effective means for the production,
procurement, and dissemination of Federal Government information to the Nation.
The Public Printer of the United States, appointed by the President of the United States with the advice and consent of the
U.S. Senate, serves as the Agency head and oversees GPO’s programs and operations. These programs and operations are funded
through a business-type revolving fund, authorized by 44 U.S.C. § 309, and annual and special appropriations provided by Congress.
The GPO Revolving Fund maintains a system of accounts and records transactions to comply with the requirements of Section 309
of Title 44.
The Joint Committee on Printing ( JCP) has primary responsibility for Congressional oversight of GPO’s programs and operations.
The JCP is comprised of five members of the U.S. House of Representatives and five members of the U.S. Senate. Every two years
the JCP chairmanship and vice-chairmanship rotate between the House and the Senate.

B. Accounting Environment
Basis of Accounting
As allowed by the Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB), the consolidated financial statements of GPO have been
prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as promulgated by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB). Under GAAP, revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses are recognized when incurred, without
regard to the timing of the receipt or disbursement of cash.
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
GPO prepares annual financial statements that reflect the overall financial position and results of operations to meet the requirements of GAAP and 31 U.S.C. § 3515(b) mandated by 44 U.S.C. § 309(e). The accompanying consolidated financial statements include
all funds under GPO’s control that have been established and maintained to account for the resources of the Agency. All significant
intra-agency balances and transactions have been eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
The GPO consolidated financial statements do not include the effects of centrally administered assets and liabilities of the Federal
Government, as a whole, such as interest on the public debt, which may in part be attributable to GPO. Other Federal agencies
make financial decisions and report certain financial matters on behalf of the entire Federal Government, including matters in which
individual agencies may be an indirect party. Financial matters maintained or reported by other Federal agencies in which GPO is
indirectly involved include employee benefit plans and certain legal settlements.
Funds
GPO maintains a revolving fund and a general fund to account for its various programs and operations. Each of these funds is a distinct fiscal and accounting entity that accounts for cash and other financial resources together with all related liabilities and equities.
Revolving Fund – The GPO Revolving Fund is an inter-governmental fund established by Congress on July 1, 1953. This businesstype revolving fund is available without fiscal limitation for financing the operation and maintenance of GPO, except for those
information dissemination programs of the Agency that are funded by annual appropriations.
The GPO Revolving Fund is a self-sustaining financial entity used primarily to finance and account for GPO’s Printing and
Binding Operations and Publication and Information Sales Program. Accordingly, the two major sources of revenue to the Revolving
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Fund are reimbursements from the Congressional Printing and Binding Appropriations and other Federal customers for providing
printing, binding and distribution services, and publication and subscription sales to the public.
The Printing and Binding Operations account for the revenues and expenses associated with services provided by in-plant printing and purchased printing. The costs of these services are recovered through a system of rates used to bill customers. These rates
include direct costs, depreciation, overhead, and related expenses permitted under 44 U.S.C. § 309.
The Publication and Information Sales Program sells Federal Government information products to the public. The sales price of
a Federal Government publication is established in accordance with 44 U.S.C. § 1708. Designated bookstores at educational institutions, book dealers, and other purchasers of large quantities may receive a 25-percent discount on the domestic price of a product.
This price discount is also available to GPO employees.
General Fund – The General Fund is financed by two annual Congressional appropriations to the Agency. These appropriated
funds finance the cost of GPO’s support of the Congress and the Government information dissemination services provided to the
public without charge to the recipients.
The Congressional Printing and Binding (CP&B) Appropriation is used to pay the cost of the printing and binding requirements
of the Congress, and the printing, binding, and distribution of publications authorized by law to be distributed to others without
charge to the recipient.
The Salaries and Expenses (S&E) Appropriation is used by the Library Services and Content Management, a GPO business unit,
to fund four information dissemination programs: the Federal Depository Library Program (FDLP) that includes GPO Access; the
Cataloging and Indexing Program; the By-Law Distribution Program; and the International Exchange Program. The majority of this
annual appropriation is used to finance the FDLP.
Expenditures from these appropriations are used to reimburse the GPO Revolving Fund for printing and binding, and other
services and supplies furnished by GPO in accordance with Title 44.

C. Fund Balance with Treasury
Fund balance with Treasury represents all balances in GPO accounts with the U.S. Department of the Treasury (Treasury). Treasury
processes cash receipts and disbursements for GPO.

D. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consist of intra-governmental amounts due to GPO, as well as amounts due from the public. Accounts receivable are shown net of a provision for uncollectible accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on GPO’s recent debt
collection experience.

E. Inventories
Inventories of publications held for sale are valued at the lower of cost, using the weighted average cost method, or market. The
publication inventories are shown net of a provision for excess inventory that may be disposed of by the Agency in the future. The
allowance for surplus publications is based on life cycle studies of product sales that provide a historical basis for determining the
percentage of potential excess inventory stock items on hand. Inventories of paper, supplies and materials include the cost of production material (e.g., blank paper, computer chips, ink, and book cloth), as well as the cost of administrative-use supplies. These
inventories are valued at the lower of cost, using the weighted moving average cost method, or market. Inventories of supplies and
materials are shown net of a provision for obsolescence. The allowance for obsolescence is determined based on historical usage of
paper, supplies and materials.

F. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment purchases are generally valued at their acquisition cost. The Agency capitalizes the cost of the property as an asset when the cost is $25,000 or more, and the estimated useful life is two years or more. The costs of major alterations
and renovations to the GPO facility are capitalized and depreciated, while the costs of maintenance and repairs are expensed when
incurred. The depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
asset. The depreciation of an asset commences the month after the asset is first placed in service.
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The following table reflects the standard estimated useful life of each major asset category. Exceptions to these standard estimated asset lives are authorized when justified.
Estimated Useful Life Of Capitalized Assets
Asset Category

Estimated Useful Life (Years)

Land

N/A

Building Improvements

20

Building Appurtenances

20

Other Structures and Facilities

20

Furniture and Fixtures

20

Leasehold Improvements

10

Plant Machinery and Equipment

10

Office Machinery and Equipment

5

Motor Vehicles

5

Computer Software

3

Land has an indefinite life and is not subject to depreciation. Leasehold improvements are generally depreciated over 10 years or
the remaining duration of the lease for real property, whichever is shorter.
Printing equipment transferred to GPO from other Federal agencies under the provisions of 44 U.S.C. § 312 is valued in accordance with JCP Regulation Number 26, Government Printing and Binding Regulations. This valuation approximates fair market
value at the time of the property transfer.

G. Deferred Revenues
Deferred revenues are funds received in advance from customers for the future delivery of goods and services. The Agency records
these advances as revenue when the goods are delivered or the services are performed.

H. Accrued Annual Leave
Annual leave is accrued as a liability when earned. The liability is reduced when leave is used. The annual leave liability is calculated
using the current hourly salary or wage of employees multiplied by their total hours of unused annual leave. Employees will receive
a lump-sum payment for any unused annual leave when they separate from Federal service or enter active military service.
Sick leave and other types of non-vested leave are expensed when used. Employees are not entitled to a lump-sum payment for
their unused sick leave.

I. Workers’ Compensation Liability
The Federal Employees’ Compensation Act (FECA) provides income and medical cost protection to covered Federal civilian employees injured on the job, employees who have incurred a work-related occupational disease, and beneficiaries of employees whose
deaths are attributable to job-related injuries or occupational diseases.
The U.S. Department of Labor (DOL) administers the FECA Program, which provides workers’ compensation benefits to GPO
employees and others through the Special Benefit Fund. GPO annually reimburses DOL for the cost of FECA benefits paid on GPO’s
behalf.
Future workers’ compensation estimates are generated from the application of actuarial procedures developed by DOL to estimate the liability for FECA benefits. The liability for future workers’ compensation benefits includes the expected liability for death,
disability, medical, and miscellaneous costs for approved compensation cases related to injuries incurred but not reported. The
liability is determined by utilizing historic benefit payment patterns related to a particular period to estimate the ultimate payments
related to that period.
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J. Commitments and Contingencies
Liabilities from loss contingencies, including environmental remediation costs not within the scope of FASB Statement No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines and penalties, and other sources, are
recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment and/or remediation can be reasonably estimated. Loss contingencies that do not meet these criteria are not accrued.
In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (FIN 47), which
requires a liability to be accrued if the reporting entity has an obligation to perform asset retirement activities and a reasonable estimate of the fair market value of the obligation can be made at year end. FIN 47 also provides guidance as to when an entity would
have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation.

K. Product Warranty Liabilities
Product warranty liabilities are recognized for U.S. Passports manufactured by GPO for the U.S. Department of State. The estimate
is based on the number of passports produced that have not been personalized by the U.S. Department of State and an estimated
percentage of potentially defective e-Passports. GPO sells blank electronic passports (e-Passports) to the U.S. Department of State,
which completes this travel document that is sold to millions of U.S. Citizens annually. The product replacement warranty program
started in fiscal 2007 to coincide with the Federal Government’s transition from the legacy passport to the new e-Passport that
contains a computer chip.

L. Revenue Recognition
Printing and Binding – GPO must be reimbursed for the cost of printing and binding services furnished customers at rates set by
the Public Printer in accordance with 44 U.S.C. §309. Revenues from in-house printing and binding work are recognized on a valueadded basis, as work is performed, while revenues from commercially procured printing and binding are recognized on the date the
contract requirements are fulfilled, which is generally the date of shipment by the commercial printer to the customer agency.
Appropriations – Appropriation revenues are recorded when a liability is incurred for purposes permitted by the appropriations
act and program legislation. Unexpended appropriations are recorded as a component of net position. Unexpended appropriation
balances are generally canceled after 5 years.
Sales of Publications – Revenues from the sale of publications and subscriptions to customers are recognized when shipped by
the Publication and Information Sales Program.
Agency Distributions – Revenues from the storage, packaging, and distribution of publications for other Federal agencies are
recorded when services have been performed.

M. Expense Recognition
Printing and Reproduction – This expense includes the cost of printing, duplicating, and reproduction orders that are procured
by GPO from the private sector to satisfy the needs of the Federal Government. The expense is generally recorded on the date of
shipment by the contractor, and is shown net of vendor prompt payment discounts earned by the Agency.
Personnel Compensation and Benefits – Personnel compensation consists of the wages and salaries, including overtime
premium and night differential, paid to GPO employees on a biweekly cycle. Personnel benefits include the Agency’s share of
contributions towards Federal Employees Health Benefits (FEHB), Federal Employees’ Group Life Insurance (FEGLI) and two Federal
Government civilian employee retirement programs. The two retirement programs are the Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS)
and the Federal Employees Retirement System (FERS) that includes the related Thrift Savings Plan (TSP). Personnel benefits also
include the cost of workers’ compensation expense, transit benefits provided by GPO to employees, and the cost of incentive and
performance awards to employees. Personnel compensation and benefits are recorded as expenses when earned by employees.
Supplies and Materials – Computer chips required for U.S. Passport production are the most significant cost component within
the category of supplies and materials. Passport supplies and materials are recorded as an expense when used in production operations. The second most significant component is paper and paper products that are commercially procured to satisfy GPO’s in-plant
printing requirements and customer orders for blank paper. The expense is recorded when paper is drawn from inventory to fulfill
an order or delivered to the customer, in the case of direct mill-to-customer shipments. This expense category also includes all other
supplies and materials that are not capitalized as property, such as personal computers, furniture, and office supplies.
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Other Services – This expense category includes the costs of professional services by contractors, the expenses related to a
provision for uncollectible accounts receivable, and the expenses related to the product liability for e-Passports. The expenses for
professional services are recognized when the contracted services have been performed. The expenses for uncollectible accounts
receivable are recognized when receivables are deemed as potentially uncollectible, based on GPO’s collection experience. The
expenses for product liabilities are recognized on a percentage of e-Passports produced but not personalized by the Department of
State.
Travel, Transportation, and Postage – This category includes travel and transportation costs of persons or things, including
employee relocation costs, and postage expenses. Travel costs are incurred by persons on official business for audits, attendance at
conferences, inspections, investigations, training, or other authorized business of the Agency. Transportation includes shipping costs
for printing and reproduction products from GPO or contractors to customer agencies, depository libraries, or other GPO locations.
Incurred travel expenses are accrued when they are estimable, while transportation costs are generally recorded on the date of
shipment. Postage and commercial mail services are recorded as expenses when the delivery services are provided by the U.S. Postal
Service and commercial carriers.
Rents, Communications, and Utilities – Rent and lease costs are incurred for the use of building space, equipment, and motor
vehicles. GPO leases office and warehouse space from the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA) and commercial landlords.
GPO also rents automobiles and other motor vehicles. Communications costs include data, voice, video, and wireless services.
Utilities include electricity, gas, steam, and water. Expenses are recorded as services are provided and energy resources are used.
Depreciation and Amortization – GPO uses the straight-line method of depreciation and amortization to allocate a portion of
the acquisition cost of property, plant and equipment to each accounting period. The acquisition cost of each capitalized asset is
depreciated, or amortized, over the asset’s estimated useful life which is generally measured in years. The monthly depreciation, or
amortization, of a capitalized asset commences at the beginning of the first full-month after the date that the capitalized asset was
placed in service.
Publications Sold – Publications sold expense represents the cost of publications sold to customers and the cost of subscriptions
issued to subscribers. Expenses are recorded at the time of publication sale or subscription issuance. Additionally, this expense
includes any change in the estimated cost of the publications held in inventory for sale to the public that are potentially obsolete,
damaged, or surplus. The allowance for surplus publications is based on life cycle studies of product sales that provide a historical
basis for the determination of potential excess inventory on hand.

N. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
The consolidated statements of cash flows identify cash receipts and disbursements and classify each into operating, investing, and
financing activity categories. This statement assesses the ability of GPO to generate funds from current operations to identify financing acquired from outside sources and to identify the major non-operating (investing) uses of funds.

O. Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as the
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the amount of revenues and expenses
reported during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
The estimates that most significantly impact the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are: the allowance for inventory obsolescence for supplies, materials, and publications held for sale; the
allowance for doubtful accounts related to accounts receivable; the estimated useful lives of capitalized assets; the actuarial estimated
liability for future workers’ compensation benefits; the product warranty liability for the replacement of defective passport books;
and the estimate for contingent liabilities.

P. Tax Status
GPO is a legislative branch agency within the Federal Government, and therefore, is not subject to federal, state, or local income
taxes. Accordingly, no provisions for income taxes are recorded by the Agency.
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Q. Reclassifications
Certain amounts included in accounts receivable, net, as of September 30, 2007, have been reclassified as inventory, net, in
the consolidated balance sheet to conform to the September 30, 2008 presentation. In addition, certain amounts presented
in General Property, Plant and Equipment, Net, (Note 6) as of September 30, 2007 for computers and computer software
have been reclassified as computer software in process to conform to the September 30, 2008 presentation.

2. Fund Balance with Treasury
A table of items included in GPO’s funds with Treasury, including funds on-hand or in-transit to the Treasury, as of
September 30, 2008 and 2007 follows.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008

2007

Fund Balances:		
Revolving Fund:		
		

Unrestricted

		

Restricted:

$ 103,783

$ 117,150

		

			

Customer deposit accounts

86,260		

77,961

			

Other

26,520		

23,355

				

			

Total revolving fund		 216,563		 218,466

General Funds:		
		

Congressional printing and binding

22,239		

17,620

		

Salaries and expenses

20,035		

17,645

		

Supplemental and other

6,414 		

19,715

48,688 		

54,980

				

Total general funds

				

Total

$ 265,251

$ 273,446

Status of Fund Balance with Treasury:		
Unobligated balance:		
		

Available		

		

Unavailable		

				

Total

$ 101,752

$

58,612

6,414		

19,715

		 108,166		

78,327

Obligated balance not yet disbursed
				

Total

157,085		 195,119
$ 265,251

$ 273,446

Unrestricted funds are available to meet the financial obligations of the Revolving Fund. Restricted funds are comprised
of customer deposit accounts, and other restrictions for accrued wages and salaries, payroll taxes and other withholdings,
earned annual leave not used by employees, and amounts due to the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) from the
GPO Retirement Separation Incentive Program (RSIP). These funds can only be used for the purpose specified.
Supplemental and other general funds include unexpended appropriations made to the GPO for specific purposes as
discussed in Net Position, Unexpended Appropriations (Note 12B).
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3. Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts, as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, consisted of the following.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008

2007

Federal Agencies:		
Unbilled accounts receivable

$ 110,031

Billed completed work		
			

$ 110,183

47,397		

38,410

Subtotal			 157,428		 148,593

Other receivables:		
The public					

2,571		

1,685

GPO employees			

1,008		

934

3,579		

2,619

			

Subtotal			

			

Total accounts receivable		 161,007		 151,212

Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts		
			

Total accounts receivable, net

(7,311)		

$ 153,696

(5,094)

$ 146,118

The majority of accounts receivable are due from other Federal agencies that ordered goods and services from GPO. By law,
these customers are required to reimburse the GPO Revolving Fund for the cost of their orders.
Unbilled accounts receivable result from the delivery of the goods and performance of services for which bills have not been
presented to the customer for payment yet. Accordingly, unbilled accounts receivable includes the value of work in process and
completed work for customer orders as of September 30, 2008 and 2007.
Employee accounts receivable includes amounts owed by current and former employees who were advanced leave. Employees
generally repay their leave indebtedness through biweekly installments from their earned leave or from leave donations from other
employees under the GPO Leave Donation Program.

4. Inventory, Net
Inventories, net of an allowance for surplus and obsolete stock, as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, consisted of the following.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008
Publications for sale		
Paper						

$

6,199

2007
$

5,406

4,324

3,455

Supplies and materials

32,518

25,435

Work in process			

10,274

4,859

53,315

39,155

(5,024)

(4,563)

			

Total inventory

Less: Allowance for surplus and obsolete inventory
			

Inventory, net

$ 48,291

$

34,592

The supplies and materials inventory included $25.1 million in electronic chips at September 30, 2008, compared to $18.4 million
at September 30, 2007. The computer chips are used in the production of electronic passports.
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5. Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses totaled $.9 million as of September 30, 2008, and $4.0 million as of September 30, 2007. This represents a
decrease of $3.1 million. During fiscal 2007, GPO made advances of $2,854,000 to two contractors manufacturing speciality
equipment with long construction periods. This plant machinery and equipment was delivered to the new SPF in fiscal
2008, thereby reducing the prepaid expenses account. On the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows this transaction has
been treated as a capital purchase.

6. General Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Net property, plant and equipment as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, consisted of the following.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008
Land

					

$

9,971

2007
$

9,971

Buildings and improvements

77,886

76,910

Plant machinery and equipment

88,818 		

74,128

Computers and computer software

43,201

35,501

Furniture and fixtures 		

6,268

6,231

Motor vehicles 				

556

565

Leasehold improvements

10,162

729

Software in process

20,978		

			

		

Total			

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
			

General property, plant and equipment, net

10,963

257,840

214,998

(150,646)

(147,398)

$ 107,194

$

67,600

The increases in plant machinery and equipment and in leasehold improvements were attributable primarily to the purchase of new equipment and building improvements to the leased property for the new SPF. The increases in computers
and computer software and in software in process result primarily from purchases for the FDsys.
Depreciation expense was $10.4 million for fiscal 2008 and $8.9 million for fiscal 2007.
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7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, were composed of the following.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008

2007

$

51,619

$ 42,761

U.S. Government agencies		

14,305

13,488

Other 					

31,454 		

39,573

97,378

95,822

15,480

13,502

$ 112,858

$ 109,324

Accounts payable:		
Commercial printing

			

Total accounts payable

Accrued salaries and payroll taxes
			

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses

The increase in accounts payable of $3.5 million was attributable to the net effect of increased demand for goods and services
acquired by GPO from the commercial sector for printing, and a decrease in other accounts payable. Other accounts payable are for
the purchase of materials, supplies, and services necessary to continue Agency operations. These include $14.4 million in computer
chips used in the production of e-Passports in fiscal 2008 and $22.5 million in fiscal 2007.

8. Deferred Revenues
As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, deferred revenues from customers consisted of the following.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008
Deposit accounts 		

$

86,260

Subscriptions 				

2007
$

77,961

2,773

3,072

Unfilled orders

			

294

396

Advance billings

			

49

286

			

Total

		

$

89,376

$

81,715

GPO held $86.3 million and $78.0 million in customer deposit accounts as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Of
these amounts, Federal Government customers had advanced funds of $82.9 million and $74.3 million for printing and binding
deposit accounts, while customers had advanced $3.4 million and $3.7 million for publication and information sales program deposit
accounts as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Additionally, GPO held advanced funds from the Federal Government and
other customers of $2.8 million and $3.1 million for subscriptions for the sales of publications as of September 30, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The restricted funds in these deposit accounts will generally be applied to future orders placed by customers, or may be
refunded on request.
GPO defers the recognition of revenues for subscription services that will be provided to customers in the future. Customers pay
for subscriptions to the Congressional Record, the Federal Register, and other publications in advance of delivery. The revenues from
subscriptions are recognized as the periodicals are published and distributed to subscribers. The unfilled subscription balance will be
refunded in instances where the subscription is no longer available for sale, or the customer cancels their subscription.
The Agency also defers the recognition of revenues for unfilled customer orders of publications and other information products
until the orders are shipped.
Additionally, GPO defers the recognition of revenues for advance billings to Federal Government customers. Advance billings are
occasionally used to finance the cost of producing certain large printing and binding jobs. GPO will recognize the revenue as work
is completed.
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9. Workers’ Compensation Liability
The DOL develops an actuarial estimate of future workers’ compensation benefits for each Federal entity to use for financial reporting each year. The U.S. Department of the Treasury requires Federal entities to use DOL’s estimates for intra-governmental accounting of this liability. The workers’ compensation liability estimate for GPO was $67,067,000 as of September 30, 2008, and $66,723,000
as of September 30, 2007.
The DOL liability estimate includes the expected payments for death, disability, medical, and miscellaneous costs for approved
compensation cases, as well as a component for incurred but not reported claims. The liability is determined using historical benefit
payment patterns related to specific incurred periods to predict the ultimate payments related to those periods. The methodology
provides for the effects of inflation and adjusts historical payments to current year constant dollars by applying wage inflation factors
(cost of living adjustments or COLAs) and medical inflation factors (consumer price index medical or CPIMs) to the calculation of
projected benefits. The COLAs and CPIMs used in the compensation projections for 2008 and 2007 follow.
				
COLA
CPIM
Fiscal Year

2008

2007

2008

2007

2008

N/A

2.63%

NA

3.74%

2009

3.87%

2.90%

4.01%

4.04%

2010

2.73%

2.47%

3.86%

4.00%

2011

2.20%

2.37%

3.87%

3.94%

2012

2.23%

2.30%

3.93%

3.94%

2013 and beyond

2.30%

2.30%

3.93%

3.94%

Projected annual payments were discounted to the present value based on the Office of Management and Budget’s (OMB)
economic assumptions for 10-year Treasury notes and bonds. For 2008, interest rate assumptions were 4.368 percent in Year 1, and
4.770 percent in Year 2 and thereafter. For 2007, interest rate assumptions were 4.930 percent in Year 1, and 5.078 percent in Year 2
and thereafter.

10. Commitments

10. A. Operating Leases
As of September 30, 2008, GPO was committed to various non-cancelable operating leases, primarily covering warehouse and office
space. Some of these leases contain escalation clauses and renewal options. A schedule of future minimum rental payments required
under operating leases by type, which have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year, follows.
Future Minimum Rental Payments Required Under Operating Leases
(Dollars in thousands)
Fiscal Year
2009

Warehouse
$

1,004

Office
$

Total

513

$ 1,517

2010		

993		

2011		

534		

176		

710

2012		

381		

147		

528

2013		

64		

1		

65

2014 and beyond
		

—

—

—

2,976

$ 1,197

$ 4,173

Total minimum lease payments

$

360 		 1,353

Lease and rental expenses for real and personal property were $4.1 million and $3.7 million for fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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10. B. Obligations
GPO had unliquidated obligations of $157.1 million and $195.1 million, at September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively, of which
$125.9 million and $166.4 million, respectively, are undelivered orders related to commercial printing. These obligations include
purchase orders and contractual obligations by GPO to acquire goods and services from the private sector and other sources. Some
of these orders are scheduled for delivery or performance in the next fiscal year.

10. C. Product Warranty Liabilities
GPO and the U.S. Department of State (State) share responsibility for the replacement of defective e-Passports. State is responsible
for the cost associated with the replacement of the first 2-percent, per order, of blank e-Passports containing defective computer
chips. GPO is liable for any warranty expense that exceeds 2-percent, per order, of passport books that are deemed to have failed
due to GPO production problems.
The following table summarizes the warranty activity for the years ended September 30, 2008 and 2007.
Warranty Liability for U.S. Passports (Dollars in thousands)
2008
Beginning Balance

$

Provision and adjustments

2007
$

(3,415)		

Cost of replacement U.S. Passports
Ending Balance (September 30)

4,833
—

$

1,418

—
4,833
—

$ 4,833

GPO reserved $1.4 million and $4.8 million for product warranty liabilities at September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively. This
liability was reduced in fiscal 2008 because there were no replacement claims made by State in fiscal 2007 or 2008.

11. Contingencies

11. A. Administrative Proceedings, Legal Actions, and Claims
GPO is a party in various administrative proceedings, legal actions, and claims brought against the Federal Government by employees, contractors, and other parties. The uncertainty involving the outcome of these pending matters will be resolved when future
events occur or fail to occur. In some cases, legal matters relate to contractual arrangements GPO has entered into for goods and
services procured on behalf of other Federal entities. The costs of administering, litigating, and resolving these actions are borne by
the GPO Revolving Fund unless the costs are recovered from another Federal entity.
As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, GPO has recorded estimated liabilities of $155,000 and $90,000, respectively, related to two
claims that management believes the likelihood of an adverse result against GPO is probable. Such amounts are included in accounts
payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying balance sheets. Certain legal matters in which GPO is a named party may be
administered and litigated on behalf of GPO by the U.S. Department of Justice. In these cases, amounts paid under any judgment,
compromise settlement, or award are funded from the Judgment Fund administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury (31
U.S.C. § 1304). The Judgment Fund paid a total of $67,000 and $64,000 on behalf of GPO for the years ended September 30, 2008
and 2007, respectively. These amounts are not reflected in GPO’s consolidated financial statements.
There were no litigation contingencies involving GPO where the risk of loss was reasonably possible as of September 30, 2008
and as of September 30, 2007.

11. B. Environmental Liabilities
The GPO Central Office in Washington, DC, is located in an industrial facility comprised of four older buildings that contain asbestos
building materials. When they were constructed, asbestos was a common building material used as flame retardant, thermal system
insulation, and in a variety of building materials (e.g., wall, floor, and ceiling tiles). GPO asbestos abatement efforts have been
successful in the removal, enclosure, and encapsulation of friable asbestos to comply with applicable laws and regulations. GPO
routinely performs asbestos abatement when unexposed asbestos is detected during building renovation projects.
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The estimated costs to remove exposed asbestos within the GPO facility, mainly pipe insulation that has been encapsulated, were
$580,000 as of September 30, 2008 and $570,000 as of September 30, 2007. These amounts are included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet. The costs to remediate all non-visible asbestos is not reasonably estimable and
accordingly has not been accrued in the accompanying financial statements due to the uncertainty surrounding the date and manner
in which the liability will be settled.

12. Net Position

12. A. Cumulative Results of Operations
Retained Earnings – Retained earnings include the net operating results of the GPO Revolving Fund, since inception, less certain
required transfers to other Federal agencies.
Invested Capital – Invested capital represents the resources of the Federal Government that were directly appropriated to the
Agency by Congress for investment in GPO assets (land, buildings, equipment, and capital).

12. B. Unexpended Appropriations
The following table presents the unexpended appropriation balances from September 30, 2006 through September 30, 2008, for the
appropriations made available to GPO.
(Dollars in thousands)			
Revolving
Fund
Appropriation

Appropriations

Unexpended balance at September 30, 2006

$

26,233

Received		

1,000

Salaries and
Expenses
Appropriation

$

11,117

Congressional
Printing and
Binding Appropriation

$

30,413

Total

$

67,763

2007 fiscal year appropriation activity:
Transferred

33,096

5,700

Expended
Unexpended balance at September 30, 2007

87,954

—			

122,050

(5,700)

—

(13,218)

(29,286)

(95,046)

(137,550)

19,715

14,927

17,621

52,263

—

34,913

89,775

124,688

2008 fiscal year appropriation activity:
Received
Transferred

1,230

— 		

Expended		 (14,531)		
Unexpended balance at September 30, 2008

$

6,414

$

(31,730)		
18,110

$

(1,230)

—

(83,927)		 (130,188)
22,239

$

46,763

				

As of September 30, 2008, GPO had obligated all the $22.2 million of the unexpended appropriations available for Congressional
Printing and Binding, and all the $18.1 million of the unexpended appropriations available for Salaries and Expenses. This
$40.3 million in obligations is based on the estimated cost of open orders as of September 30, 2008. The obligations totaled $32.5
million at September 30, 2007. This amount consisted of $17.6 million in obligations against Congressional Printing and Binding
Appropriations and $14.9 million in obligations against Salaries and Expenses Appropriations.
The Revolving Fund unexpended appropriations balances at September 30, 2008 and September 30, 2007 were $6.4 million and
$19.7 million, respectively. The Revolving Fund unexpended appropriations balances are the results of the following appropriation
activities:
In fiscal 2001, Congress authorized the transfer of $9.5 million to the Revolving Fund from prior year Congressional Printing and
Binding Appropriations to cover the cost of congressional work. At the end of fiscal 2008, the entire $9.5 million was expended.
In fiscal 2001, Congress also authorized the transfer of $3.3 million to the Revolving Fund from prior year Salaries and Expenses
Appropriations to pay for the printing and distribution of publications to depository libraries. At the end of fiscal years 2008 and
2007, a balance of $1.3 million was available for future expenditures.
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In fiscal 2005, Congress authorized GPO to transfer $22 million to the GPO Revolving Fund from prior year appropriated funds
to finance the development of the FDsys. These funds were also available for annual appropriation shortfalls. The $22 million transfer consisted of $14.6 million from Congressional Printing and Binding Appropriations and $7.4 million from Salaries and Expenses
Appropriations. As of September 30, 2008, GPO has expended $20.9 million of these appropriated funds. At the end of fiscal years
2008 and 2007, balances of $1.1 million and $10.0 million were available for future expenditures, respectively.
In fiscal 2005, GPO transferred $2.5 million from the prior year’s unexpended Salaries and Expenses Appropriation to the GPO
Revolving Fund. The funds were advanced to the U.S. Department of the Interior (i.e., GovWorks) for improvements to GPO Access
that were ordered in fiscal 2004. System enhancements included increased storage capacity, stronger security, and improved user
performance. This major project was completed during fiscal 2008 with procurement assistance from GovWorks, a Federal acquisition center. As a result, the entire $2.5 million was expended as of September 30, 2008.
In fiscal 2006, Congress appropriated $2 million (before rescission of $20,000) to the Revolving Fund for workforce retraining.
GPO expended a total of $1,407,000 from the $1,980,000 in available appropriations. At the end of fiscal 2008, $573,000 was available for future expenditures. In fiscal 2007, Congress appropriated an additional $1 million to the GPO Revolving Fund for workforce retraining. At the end of fiscal 2008, the entire balance of $1 million was available for future expenditures.
In fiscal 2007, Congress authorized the transfer of $5.7 million to the GPO Revolving Fund from prior year Congressional Printing
and Binding Appropriations to help cover appropriation shortfalls through fiscal 2007. At the end of fiscal 2008, a balance of $1.3
million was available for expenditure.
In fiscal 2008, Congress authorized the transfer of $1.23 million to the GPO Revolving Fund from prior year Congressional
Printing and Binding Appropriations to help cover appropriation shortfalls. At the end of fiscal 2008, a balance of $1.1 million was
available for expenditure.

13. Appropriated Funds

13. A. Available Appropriations
The total net appropriations made available to GPO, after rescissions, for fiscal years 2008 and 2007, were as follows.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008
Congressional printing and binding

$

Salaries and expenses		
Workforce retraining
Total available appropriations

50

2007

89,775

$

34,913		
—

$ 124,688

		

87,954
33,096
1,000

$ 122,050
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13. B. Expended Appropriations
The total appropriations expended by GPO during fiscal years 2008 and 2007, were as follows.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008

2007

Congressional printing and binding:		

Congressional Record products

$

25,920

Miscellaneous publications and printing and binding		

20,177		

23,690

Hearings			

16,019 		

19,595

Bills, resolutions, and amendments		

7,378 		

11,624

Details to Congress		

2,619 		

2,922

Other			

14,119 		

11,295

Total congressional printing and binding		

83,927 		

95,046

Depository library distribution		

23,309 		

21,235

Cataloging and indexing		

6,368 		

6,347

By-law distribution		

705 		

547

International exchange		

1,348 		

1,157

Total salaries and expenses		

31,730 		

29,286

13,854		

12,749

			

$

23,615

Salaries and expenses:		

			

Revolving Fund:		
Appropriations		
Workforce retraining		
			

Total revolving fund		

			

Total expended appropriations

677

469

14,531

13,218

$

130,188

$

137,550

$

130,188

$

137,550

Reconciliation of expended appropriations to the		
consolidated statements of revenues, expenses,
and changes in retained earnings: 		
			

Total expended appropriations

Eliminations (Intra-agency)		
Consolidated revenues from appropriations
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(77)		
$

130,111

$

(509)
137,041
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14. Employee Benefit Plans
GPO funds a portion of pension contributions for its employees under the Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS) and the Federal
Employees Retirement System (FERS), and makes payroll deductions from employees for their pension contributions. OPM determines the employer contributions for these defined benefit plans that are required to be paid by GPO. OPM is responsible for
Government-wide reporting of CSRS and FERS assets, accumulated plan benefits, and unfunded liabilities. In accordance with FASB,
and consistent with multi-employer pension plans, GPO has reflected only the required contribution to these programs in its financial statements. OPM is responsible for funding any other costs. Therefore, GPO is not required to disclose the unfunded pension
liability and post-employment benefits relative to its employees.
Civil Service Retirement System
The CSRS is a defined benefit plan. Generally, it covers Agency employees first hired before 1984. Total GPO (employer) contributions to CSRS for employees covered under this retirement program were 7.5 percent of basic pay in both 2008 and 2007 for
investigators and law-enforcement officers, and 7 percent of basic pay in both years for all other employees. GPO contributions were
$4.1 million and $4.4 million for the years ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Federal Employees Retirement System
Using Social Security benefits as a base, FERS provides a defined benefit plan (Basic Benefit Plan) and a voluntary defined contribution plan. Employees first hired after December 31, 1983 were automatically covered by FERS and Social Security, while employees
hired prior to January 1, 1984 were able to choose between joining this plan or remaining in CSRS.
The employer contribution rate to FERS for GPO law enforcement officers was 24.9 percent of basic pay in fiscal 2008 and 23.8
percent in fiscal 2007. The FERS contribution rate for all other employees was 11.2 percent in both years. GPO contributions to FERS
totaled $11.6 million for fiscal 2008 and $9.6 million for fiscal 2007.
Thrift Savings Plan
The Thrift Savings Plan (TSP) allows employees to defer the recognition of income tax on contributions made to the plan. The TSP
elective deferral limit for employees was $15,500 for 2008 and 2007. Employees, who were 50 years or older, were allowed additional catch-up contributions of $5,000 in 2008 and 2007. For FERS employees, the employer is required to contribute 1 percent of
the employee’s base pay to the TSP, and to match voluntary employee contributions dollar-for-dollar for the first 3 percent of pay,
and 50 cents on the dollar for the next 2 percent of pay. Thus, the employer contribution to the TSP can be up to 5 percent for FERS
employees. Employees participating in CSRS may contribute to the TSP, but they do not receive any matching contributions from the
employer. GPO made employer contributions to the TSP of $3.6 million in fiscal 2008 and $3.2 million in fiscal 2007.
Social Security System
As an employer, GPO matches employee contributions to the U.S. Social Security Administration (SSA) under the Federal Insurance
Contributions Act (FICA) for employees in the FERS. GPO contributes matching amounts of 6.2 percent of gross pay (up to $102,000
in 2008 and $97,500 in 2007) to SSA’s Old Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance (OASDI) Program. Additionally, GPO makes
matching contributions for all employees of 1.45 percent of gross pay, without limit, to SSA’s Medicare Hospital Insurance Program.
Contributions to these SSA programs for the years ended September 30, 2008 and 2007 totaled $9.4 million and $8.0 million,
respectively.
Employment, Pension, and Other Post-Employment Benefits Provided by Others
OPM is responsible for the management, administration, and funding of certain Government-wide programs that provide pension
and other post-employment benefits to retired employees of the Federal Government. These OPM administered programs provide
benefits to former employees of GPO. OPM administered pension programs include the CSRS and the FERS. Other OPM administered programs provide health, life, and long-term care insurance benefits to active, inactive, and retired employees. Permanent employees of GPO may participate in the Federal Employees Health Benefit Program (FEHBP), Federal Employee Group Life Insurance
Program (FEGLIP), and/or Federal Long Term Care Insurance Program (FLTCIP) before and after their retirement from the Agency.

15. Concentration of Credit Risk
GPO financial instruments, none held for trading purposes, consist primarily of funds with Treasury, accounts receivable, and
accounts payable at September 30, 2008 and 2007. GPO estimates the fair value of financial instruments at September 30, 2008 and
2007 to be the carrying value.
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16. Major Customers
GPO’s primary customers are the Congress and large Federal agencies in the Executive Branch of the Federal Government. In
fiscal years 2008 and 2007, billings to those customers representing 10 percent or more of GPO’s total billings follow.
(Dollars in thousands)

2008

Department of State

2007

Amount

Percent

$ 366,302

35.1%

Department of Defense		 162,506

Amount

Percent

$ 230,424

24.5%

15.6%		 145,218

15.5%

Congress of the United States		

90,498

8.7%		

95,477

10.2%

		
Department
of Health & Human Services

83,797

8.0%		

97,124

10.3%

The increase in billings to the U.S. Department of State in fiscal 2008 is attributable to the increased demand for U.S.
Passports.

17. Regional Operations
The GPO Central Office and regional offices work to serve the Agency’s customers located throughout the entire United
States and overseas. From time to time, changes in regional operations, such as openings and closings, are necessary to
improve customer service and maintain economical and efficient operations. Two changes to regional operations occurred
during fiscal 2008.
GPO opened a new Secure Production Facility (SPF) to produce e-Passports. The new SPF is in a remote, secure
location on Federal Government property leased from another Federal agency. The project, budgeted at $41.4 million, was
completed at a cost of approximately $32.1 million. As agreed to with the U.S. Department of State, funding for the project
was derived from the price GPO charged for e-Passports. This new facility supplements existing passport production
operations and supports the Agency’s plans for continuity of business operations.
GPO completed efforts that had started in fiscal 2006 to reduce leased space at their warehousing and distribution facility in Laurel, Maryland. The total leased space was reduced from 202,000 to 104,460 square feet under this management
cost savings initiative.
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ACRONYM LIST
COLA

Cost of Living Adjustments

CP&B

Congressional Printing and Binding

CPIM

Consumer Price Index Medical

CSRS

Civil Service Retirement System

DoD

U.S. Department of Defense

DOL

U.S. Department of Labor

EFT

Electronic Funds Transfer

e-Passport

Electronic Passport Book

FASAB

Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board

FASB

Financial Accounting Standards Board

FDLP

Federal Depository Library Program

FDsys

GPO’s Federal Digital System

FECA

Federal Employees’ Compensation Act

FEGLI

Federal Employees’ Group Life Insurance

FEGLIP

Federal Employee Group Life Insurance Program

FEHB

Federal Employees Health Benefits

FEHBP

Federal Employees Health Benefit Program

FERS

Federal Employees Retirement System

FICA

Federal Insurance Contributions Act

FLTCIP

Federal Long Term Care Insurance Program

GAAP

U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

GAO

U.S. Government Accountability Office

GBIS

U.S. Government Printing Office Business Information System

GPO or Agency

U.S. Government Printing Office

GSA

U.S. General Services Administration

IPAC

Intra-governmental Payment and Collection

ISO

International Organization for Standardization

JCP

Joint Committee on Printing

OASDI

Old Age, Survivors, and Disability Insurance

OIG

Office of the Inspector General

OMB

Office of Management and Budget

OPM

Office of Personnel Management

PKI

Public Key Infrastructure

RSIP

GPO Retirement Separation Incentive Program

S&E

Salaries and Expenses

SPF

Secure Production Facility

SSA

U.S. Social Security Administration

State

U.S. Department of State

Treasury

U.S. Department of the Treasury

TSP

Thrift Savings Plan

U.S.C.

United States Code
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